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To our Shareholders

Suominen’s customers are leading manufacturers of hygiene, health care and food 
products and retail trade chains. We supply our customers with wet wipes, non-
wovens and flexible packaging, and operate in sectors where the markets are grow-
ing, integrating and consolidating. Suominen’s goal is to grow in Europe faster than 
the markets in both its business areas – Wipes and Nonwovens and Flexible Packag-
ing – and to increase market shares in collaboration with its leading customers. 
Our goal in developing the company’s business areas and structure is to ensure long-
term success and overall profitability. 

In 2004, we were unable to achieve the targets we had set for ourselves, and com-
parable net sales decreased and profitability declined. The financial results of the 
business units were down from the previous year and on an unsatisfactory level. 
The reasons are both external and internal. Sluggish consumer demand and greater 
price consciousness have posed a challenge for brand manufacturers. Also, compe-
tition on the European wet wipe market intensified significantly during 2004 and 
brand products lost market share to the retail trade chains’ own products.

Sales of Suominen’s wet wipes and nonwovens focus on brand products, resulting 
in a substantially weaker performance than expected with regard to volume, price, 
and profitability. Moreover, the performance of Nonwovens and in particular of 
Flexible Packaging was deteriorated by the increase in the prices of plastic raw 
material, which continued throughout the year, accelerating towards the end. 
We were unable to respond quickly enough on a sufficient scale in channelling 
sales, raising sales prices to keep up with the increase in raw material prices, and 
adjusting costs.

Steps have been taken. At the end of the year, results were seen from more efficient 
utilisation of Suominen’s modern and competitive capacity through more active and 
better focused sales. Increases in sales prices based on rising raw material prices have 
been carried out, costs in all units have been reduced, and unit operating costs are 
on the decrease. We will continue to pursue this approach throughout 2005. We 
will concentrate on improving profitability and on securing positive cash flow. 
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Suominen’s operations have been and remained based on streamlined corporate 
management, independent business areas, a lean organisation, and confidence in 
people throughout the company, on every level. Leanness means that staff organi-
sations are avoided, and that management takes place where everyday operations 
happen.

To achieve further improvements in operations, and to make more effective use of 
synergy between Wet Wipes and Nonwovens, Suominen adopted a business area 
organisation at the beginning of 2005. With the exception of corporate financial 
management, common functions were transferred to the business areas. Suominen’s 
business areas are Wipes and Nonwovens and Flexible Packaging. In addition, 
Suominen’s other operations comprise Inka Oy. The Board of Directors and corpo-
rate management determine the allocation of resources and monitor achievement of 
goals. The business areas are responsible for the operations and financial perfor-
mance of their own areas. 

Suominen’s success in the marketplace and a profile distinct from its competitors 
are based on first-class processes and products and on their constant renewal, on 
cost effectiveness achieved through scale, and on full exploitation of synergies. But 
first and foremost, it relies on the skill and dedication of our employees, on their 
will to get results and to succeed in their own work. 2004 was a challenging year 
marked by numerous changes. I would like at this point to thank our personnel for 
a job well done, in the face of difficult market conditions. 

   Heikki Bergholm
   President and CEO
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Nonwovens
32.2 %

Flexible
Packaging
29.7 %

Other business 
operations 3.2 %

Net sales by business unit
€ 233.2 million 

Finland
17.9 %

Other EU 
42.8 %

Net sales by market area

The Netherlands
13.5 %

Other countries 
16.4 %

Suominen is a company serving the consumer goods industry and retail 
trade.  Suominen’s business areas are Wipes and Nonwovens and Flexible 
Packaging.  In addition, Other Business Operations include Inka Oy.  
Customers are leading brand companies, manufacturers of hygiene products 
and food, and retail chains. The Company’s shares are quoted on the main 
list of the Helsinki Exchanges.

Key Figures

2004 in Brief

” Prices for 
 oil-based raw
  materials rose  
 sharply ”

” The European   
 wet wipes market  
 posed a challenge  
 for brand 
 manufacturers ”

” Sales of wet 
 wipes declined ”

” Clarity and   
 efficiency through  
 rationalisation and   
 sales of investment  
 property ”

” The Wipes and  
 Nonwovens business
 area was formed as  
 of 1 January 2005 ”

Wet Wipes
34.9 %

Scandinavia
9.4 %

  2004 2003
Net sales, € million 233.2 179.8
International operations, € million 191.4 137.3
Gross profi t, € million 21.6 21.7
   as  % of net sales 9.3 12.1
Operating profi t, € million 8.0 15.4
   as  % of net sales 3.4 8.5
Profi t before tax, € million 4.1 12.7
Profi t for the period, € million 3.2 8.9 
Earnings/share, € 0.14 0.43
Dividend/share, € * 0.00 0.59
Cash fl ow from operations/share, € 0.22 1.01
Return on invested capital, (ROI), % 5.2 13.2
Return on equity (ROE), % 5.0 14.6
Equity ratio, % 31.4 35.5
Equity ratio, %,  
   capital loans in equity 35.6 40.5
Gearing, % 159.2 112.9
Gearing, %,  
   capital loans in equity 128.9 86.5
Equity/share, € 2.55 2.98
P/E ratio (P/E) 29.6 15.3

* Proposal by the Board of Directors
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Growth
The markets of the Company’s business areas will continue to grow and consoli-
date. Company growth in excess of growth in demand is both a condition for 
success and a consequence of it. Growth is primarily organic. Acquisitions will 
be considered if they are related to present operations and aim to increase market 
share or expand markets. Compatibility and impact on earnings per share are the 
criteria.

Profitability
The company’s profitability target is a return on invested capital and share-
holders’ equity of 15 %. This will require both a good financial performance 
and effective capital employment.

Equity Ratio
The aim is to have the equity ratio at approximately 40 % and gearing at approxi-
mately 100 %. 

Dividends
The amount of the dividend will depend on the profit for the financial period. 
That part of the profit not required to ensure a sound growth of the company 
will be paid out in dividends. 

Operating Organisation 
Two of Suominen Corporation’s business areas, Wet Wipes and Nonwovens, 
were combined as of 1 January 2005 to form a single area, Wipes and Non-
wovens. This will allow more effective use of the operational chain formed by 
the units.

Within the business area, the Wet Wipes business unit will supply the wet 
wipes of international brands and retail chains for distribution and consump-
tion. The Nonwovens business unit will manufacture nonwovens for the world’s 
leading producers of wiping, hygiene and health care products. Integration will 
be furthered by using increasingly our own nonwoven material.

Apart from Wipes and Nonwovens, Suominen also includes the Flexible Packag-
ing business area and Inka Oy, which is included in Other Business Operations. 

Suominen
Heikki Bergholm

President and CEO

Finance
Arto Kiiskinen

Vice President, CFO

Wipes and Nonwovens
Esa Palttala

Executive Vice President
Wet Wipes

Pekka Rautala
Vice President and 
General Manager

Nonwovens
Esa Palttala

Flexible Packaging
Juha Henttonen

Vice President and 
General Manager

Other Business
Inka

Financial Targets



Suominen Wet Wipes

Products
• Baby wipes: an assortment of wet wipes for baby care
• Personal care wipes: facial cleaning wipes, cleansing 
 and refreshing body deodorant wipes
• Household cleaning wipes: floor wipes, glass wipes, 
 toilet wipes, all purpose cleaning wipes
• Industrial wipes: a wide range of wipes for all 
 applications from fine polishing to heavy duty cleaning
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Operating profi t, € million

Net sales, € million
pro forma 2000-2003

Customers and markets
Suominen Wet Wipes serve business customers operating in consum-
er and industrial markets. The focus is on leading brand companies 
covering the global or the European consumer market. The other main 
customer area is the private label segment consisting of major retail 
chains. The demand for Wet Wipes products comes mainly from the 
European customers. In the past, the growth of consumption of different 
kinds of wiping applications has been clearly faster than the growth of 
general consumption. Structural changes in the retail trade have affected 
the structure of demand for wet wipes.

Business
Suominen manufactures wet wipes for baby care, personal hygiene and 
for cleaning in households as well as in industry. Suominen Wet Wipes 
aims to be a supplier who is able to fulfil the needs of the most demand-
ing customers. The Wet Wipes unit seeks to be a development supplier 
for its key customers. The product and process development of the unit 
and the Group offers the means for this. The operations are based on 
high quality, which meets the standards of the leading brand companies. 
Long experience and consecutive know-how of the wet wipes production 
makes it possible to offer a diversified product range, especially in the 
fast growing personal care and household cleaning wipe areas. Special 
attention is paid to manage the supply chain, since the products are 
delivered direct to the distribution centres of the retail trade. Modern-
ised production machinery and an effective cost structure are means for 
meeting the challenge of the increasingly keen competition.

Year 2004
In 2004, Suominen Wet Wipes produced over 100 million packages 
for delivery to shops. Net sales decreased by 16 per cent. Volumes were 
down from the previous year. Structural changes in the retail business 
and the general slower growth increased competition in the market place. 
The replacement of anticipated losses in production by new customer 
projects was clearly more difficult and slower than expected. Because 
of the slack market demand a comprehensive rationalisation programme 
was started to create a more competitive cost structure for the business 
unit.

During 2004 Suominen Wet Wipes continued the modernisation pro-
gramme started earlier. The construction of a new production hall was 
finished by autumn and first production machines were moved to the 
premises in the end of the year. 

In 2004 net sales totalled EUR 81.3 million, a decrease by 15.7 per cent 
from the EUR 96.5 million of the previous year. Operating profit was 
EUR 0.3 million or 0.4 per cent of net sales. Gross investment came to 
EUR 5.2 million. Suominen Wet Wipes employed an average of 329 
persons during 2004.

Targets for 2005
From the beginning of 2005 Wet Wipes is part of the new Suominen 
business segment Wipes and Nonwovens. The aim of the organisational 
change is to be able to improve the group offering to the end customers 
by higher quality and better products. The target is to regain the market 
shares and achieve growth particularly in personal care wipes but also in 
baby wipes and in household cleaning wipes.

Investments, € million
pro forma 2000–2003



Products
• Nonwoven material, delivered as roll goods, is used for  
 manufacture of wet wipes for baby care, personal hygiene  
 and beauty care, and for cleaning homes. 
• Industrial applications include both wet and dry wiping  
 products. 
• In addition, Suominen nonwovens are used for other  
 hygiene products and wound-care products.

Suominen Nonwowens
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Investments, € million

Exports and international 
operations, € million

Operating profit, € million

Net sales, € million

Customers and markets
Nonwovens’ customers include the world’s leading manufacturers of 
brand products; they make wet wipes for personal hygiene and beauty
care and other hygiene products. They also include companies that 
manufacture wipes for industry and households. Health care materials 
are supplied mainly to companies producing wound-care products. Apart 
from the leading brand products, Suominen’s nonwovens are used in pri-
vate label products. The main market area is Europe, and North America 
is another important export market. The market shares of customers in 
their own segments of Suominen’s market area are significant.

Business
Suominen Nonwovens develops and manufactures nonwoven roll goods. 
It produces hydroentangled wiping and wound-care materials and ther-
mally bonded materials mainly for hygiene products. The main raw 
materials are polypropylene, viscose and polyester fibres and pulp. The 
manufacture of nonwoven material is mainly based on the own integrated 
production of polyporopylene fibre. Operations focus on close co-opera-
tion with key customers in product development as well as in develop-
ment of production processes and methods. The principal strategic objec-
tive is to grow in selected market segments where growth is above average.

Year 2004
In 2004, net sales of the business area declined from the previous year. 
Sales volumes increased, but the price level was weaker than in 2003. 
Demand for hydroentangled products in Europe was affected by the 
weakening position of brand products against private labels. Sales of  
thermal-bonded material for hygiene products and health care products 
remained on the level of the previous year.

Costs of production rose as prices for oil-based raw materials increased 
rapidly during the year. The rise is passed on in full to sales prices with 
delay. Rationalisation of production carried out during the first half of 
the year improved production efficiency and the operational cost posi-
tion.

During 2004, further investment was made in the modernisation of 
hydroentanglement lines; this increased capacity and improved product 
quality.

Net sales in 2004 amounted to EUR 75.0 million. Exports and interna-
tional operations accounted for EUR 70.9 million of net sales. Operating 
profit came to EUR 3.8 million, which is EUR 2.2 million less than in 
the previous year. Gross investment amounted to EUR 1.8 million. Non-
wovens employed an average of 196 persons in 2004.

Targets for 2005
At the beginning of 2005, Nonwovens became a part of the business 
area Wipes and Nonwovens, in which the Nonwovens unit concentrates 
on increasing sales; especially on expanding deliveries to the Wet Wipes 
unit, and consolidating competitiveness by improving cost effectiveness. 
The role of product development is being stressed in both sales and in 
cooperation with customers. The emphasis is on wiping product ma-
terials, the European market share of which will be increased in selected 
areas of application.



Products
• Packaging for hygiene products: wrapping and bags for  
 packaging of  tissue paper and hygiene products
• Packaging for food products: film and bags for example  
 for baked goods and frozen foods
• Retail service packaging: a variety of carrier bags and bags
• Special products: tamper-evident security bags, resealable  
 bags, and bags for packaging systems

Suominen Flexible Packaging
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Net sales, € million

Operating profi t, € million

Exports and international
operations, € million

Investments, € million

Customers and markets
The customers manufacturing hygiene products are large multinationals served 
by Flexible Packaging in the Nordic countries and on the Continent. Manufac-
turers of food products include bakery chains and frozen vegetable producers, 
which mainly operate on a country or regional basis. In the retail trade, Flexible 
Packaging has a strong position in Finland. Special products are sold to indust-
rial and service-sector companies. Demand for products in the principal business 
areas follows consumer trends. Sales concentrate on the northern European 
market, where demand is mature, and on the new members of the EU and the 
St. Petersburg region in Russia.

Business
Suominen Flexible Packaging manufactures printed flexible packaging charac-
terised by a high standard of hygiene, cleanliness and high-quality printing. 
In hygiene product packaging, the most important product applications are 
packaging for tissue paper, women’s hygiene products and incontinence products. 
There are two main product lines in food packaging: packaging for the bakery 
industry and printed packaging films used by other food industry. The product 
groups in service packaging for retailers are carrier bags, bags on the roll and 
waste sacks. Special products comprise security bags, sealable bags, Minigrip®, 
and System bags.

The Flexible Packaging production plants, specialised in a particular product 
area, are situated in four localities in Finland, and in Sweden and Poland. The 
business area’s strategy focuses on sales of a narrow product range in selected 
marketing areas and aims at achieving a clear advantage in efficiency and compe-
tition. The goal is regional market leadership.

Year 2004
In 2004, Flexible Packaging’s net sales were on the previous year’s level. Average 
sales prices for the entire year were lower than those of 2003. Sales volumes in-
creased by 3 per cent. The competition in Finland intensified as the international 
supply increased, especially from nearby countries with low cost levels. Clarifi-
cation of the product range and concentration on products that provide more 
added value reduced sales. Meanwhile, increased capacity of the plant in Poland 
boosted sales in Poland, Germany and the Benelux countries. The sharp rise in 
the prices for oil-based raw materials eroded financial results, particularly during 
the second half of the year. The programme of cost cuts that began in 2003 was 
continued.

Half of the total investments, or EUR 3.3 million, focused on doubling the 
capacity of the plant in Poland. In the business area, modernisation of print-
ing capacity in the plant in Sweden began, scheduled for completion at the 
beginning of 2005. The investment amounts to a total of two million euros.

Net sales in 2004 were EUR 69.2 million. Exports and international operations 
accounted for EUR 38.9 million. Operating profit came to EUR 1.6 million, 
which is 2.7 million euros less than in the previous year. Gross investment 
totalled EUR 7.6 million. Flexible Packaging employed an average of 621 
persons in 2004.

Targets for 2005
In 2005, Suominen Flexible Packaging will concentrate on products providing 
a high level of added value, in accordance with revised customer strategy. The 
relative contribution of the Polish plant to Flexible Packaging’s production 
will continue to increase thanks to the expansion completed in spring of 2004. 
Introduction of a new operating system and continuation of the cost savings pro-
gramme will improve cost efficiency in various functions.
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Inka Oy,
Net sales, € million

Inka Oy,
Operating profi t, € million

Other Business Operations consist mainly of Inka Oy.

Inka Oy supplies narrow fabrics to the clothing and outfitting industry, 
and materials handling products to the unitising, lifting and strapping 
industry and to trade and transport. The principal markets for narrow 
fabrics are the Nordic Countries, the Baltic Countries and Eastern 
Europe.  For the heavy-duty products, the main market areas are the 
Nordic countries, the Baltic countries and Eastern and Western Europe. 
Inkafil® yarn and strapping and one-way lashing products are competi-
tive products on the international markets.

In 2004, Inka rationalised operations by concentrating product supply 
and manufacturing on the most profitable part of the product range. 
Manufacturing in Turku was terminated and will continue in Virrat, 
Finland and in Tallinn, Estonia. 

Inka’s net sales declined on the previous year. Sales of unit goods in 
materials handling products decreased as a result of increasing com-
petition from the Far East. Sales of narrow fabrics contracted due to 
reduction of the product range. Sales of strapping and one-way lash-
ing products rose. A loss was shown for 2004. Most of the loss can 
be attributed to nonrecurring costs caused by rearrangement of opera-
tions.

In 2004, Inka’s net sales amounted to EUR 11.1 million. Operating 
loss was EUR 0.5 million as opposed to a loss of EUR 0.6 million for 
the previous year. Gross investment totalled EUR 0.3 million. Inka 
employed an average of 140 persons in 2004. 

Other Business Operations generated a total of EUR 2.3 million in 
operating profit during 2004. Profit from the sale of real estate and 
investment shares during the year under review amounted to EUR 3.2 
million. Through these sales, Suominen released non-core capital.

Other Business 
Operations 
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Operating Policy 
Suominen’s customers are leading manufacturers of hygie-
ne, health care and food products, and retail chains. Pro-
ducts ultimately become consumer products or packag-
ing. High quality in products and processes that ensures 
that the expectations of customers are eventually met is 
essential to operations. Operating policy covers manage-
ment of product and process quality, personnel manage-
ment, and environmental responsibility. A high standard 
of competence in the development of both products and 
processes brings added value to customers.

Annual environmental, safety, and quality targets are set 
for business areas and units. Operations are monitored 
and improved continuously to ensure that these targets 
are achieved. It is company policy to openly inform all 
stakeholders about environmental issues, personnel, work 
safety and quality.

Operational quality
Operating systems ensure that the expectations of custo-
mers and consumers regarding the quality, functionality 
and safety of the end products are met. By doing its 
part Suominen supports the success of customers’ brand 
products. Delivery capacity and fill rate are an integral 
part of operational quality, which is also supported by the 
operating systems. 

Through customer auditing, our organisation learns 
efficiently of the customers’ views and needs; this is a 
prerequisite for the continued improvement of quality 
operations.

Special attention is focused to hygiene at production 
plants. Effective guidelines and procedures and clean 
working environments are a means to ensure that pro-
duction and products are hygienic. Operations are 
improved by means of internal development projects 
and function reviews.

The quality, safety and environmental protection stand-
ards of suppliers and other partners are ensured with joint 
development programmes and audits.

The quality systems of the Wet Wipes and Nonwovens 
units are ISO 9001 certified.

Employees as quality makers
Skilled and committed personnel are the basis for Suomi-
nen’s success. At the end of 2004, the Group employed 
1 269 personnel, of whom 774 were in Finland, 300 in 
the Netherlands, 90 in Poland and 66 in Sweden.

Personnel issues are handled at Suominen by business 
area, as a part of everyday operations. Here, too, the organi-
sation is lean and staffs are avoided. Total operational 
quality begins with the active contribution of personnel. 
Motivated personnel provide a foundation for a customer-
oriented and successful business. The goal is to ensure 
the well-being of personnel and increase the skills of each 
employee. 

Constant improvement of operations is based on encour-
agement and systematic training of personnel, ensuring 
a safe working environment and on providing adequate 
and functional resources. Unit training programmes place 
priority on vocational training.

Good working capacity is promoted at the company 
facilities by offering personnel opportunities for physical 
exercise. Personnel health care services have been pur-
chased from outside occupational health care providers. 
The units’ incentive systems promote positive attitudes 
towards occupational health. The goal is to keep lost work-
ing days below the average for industry, that is less than 
one day per month.
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Suominen seeks to promote safety over the long term. All 
work-related accidents can be prevented. Identification 
and assessment of hazardous situations, handling of acci-
dent situations and implementation of corrective measures 
are an integral part of the continuous improvement of 
operations. The number of accidents and their seriousness 
are monitored systematically and interventions are made 
immediately when shortcomings arise.

Accidents in Suominen’s units declined substantially from 
the previous year. The opposite trend was apparent only 
in the Nonwovens unit, where safety training was stepped 
up as a result.

Environment and quality
Environmental issues are essential in Suominen’s all 
business areas. Suominen endorses the principles of the 
International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) Business 
Charter for Sustainable Development.

The aim is to reduce the environmental impact each year 
relative to output. Product and Process Development 
takes the environmental and safety concerns of new 
products and production methods into account in the 
planning stage. The objective is to provide customers 
with products that meet their demands while using all 
raw materials, energy and other resources as efficiently 
as possible.

The major environmental impact in the production of 
Suominen Wet Wipes consists of the wastewater gener-
ated in the production of lotions used in the wipes and 
mixed solid waste. Keeping the load on the environment 
within the limits set by the environmental permits is 
secured by comprehensive monitoring and by reacting 
immediately to possible deviations. Construction of an 
environmental system has begun, aiming at its adoption 
in 2005 and certification in 2006.

With the help of an environmental system, Suominen 
Nonwovens manage and develop the operations so as to 
reduce the load on the environment. Since 2000, Suomi-
nen Nonwovens has held an ISO 14001 environmental 
certificate. The volume of waste destined for sanitary fills 
has been reduced substantially by effective waste classifi-
cation and through recycling. The volume of wastewater 
in relation to that of production declined significantly in 
2004. Environmental information is included in regular 
safety training.

The Nonwovens unit concluded an agreement on con-
struction of a heating plant that will use biofuel and the 
by-products resulting from the manufacture of Non-
wovens. The plant will significantly reduce the load on 
the environment. It is scheduled for completion in 2006.

Flexible Packaging, the main environmental effects of 
production are caused by the use of printing inks and 
solvents. The load on the environment is minimised 
for instance through effective recycling of material in 
the production and waste classification. In Poland and 
in Sweden, VOC-emissions generated in printing are 
treated. In the plant in Tampere an incineration facility 
will start up in 2005. The quality, environmental and 
safety systems of Flexible Packaging have been renewed 
and integrated into a single operating system.

Number of accidents monthly 2002–2004

Personnel age structure

Wet Wipes
Nonwowens

Flexible Packaging
Inka

Number of
Employees

Personnel 2001–2004

Finland
Other countries

Average 
personnel
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Product and Process Development
Suominen invests constantly in research and product 
development in order to be able to offer its customers 
even better materials and more innovative solutions. The 
company works closely with its customers’ own product 
development and production.

The 45 experts working in product and process devel-
opment are in an excellent position to serve customers. 
Together with sales and production, they develop cost-
effective manufacturing methods and new productions. 
The entire supply chain is taken into account in product 
development. Cooperation with key customers and sup-
pliers of raw materials and machinery is close.

In product development, Suominen concentrates on 
the needs of the end user and customer. Investment in 
analysis and measurement equipment and pilot lines 
ensure that the product development department is on 
the cutting edge. In product development, solutions are 
actively sought to growing customer demands regarding 
environmental and product security. 

The Wipes and Nonwovens business area develops packag-
ing solutions, lotions and nonwovens for a wide range 
of wet wipe applications. Priority in the product develop-
ment of the Wet Wipes business unit is on packaging 
solutions and lotions and the manufacturing processes for 
wet wipes. Operations rely on prompt and direct coopera-
tion with customers to ensure that our new products 
reach the market first.

The priority in development at the Nonwovens business 
unit has been on material for wet wipes and industrial 
wipes manufactured for a variety of end uses. Process 
development has focused on improvement of hydroen-
tanglement technology and the development of different 
technologies for embossing that make products more 
functional and varied.

In the Flexible Packaging business area, development has 
emphasised products that add substantial value, packag-
ing for food and hygiene products. Paper/plastic film 
laminates are a new product line that was brought onto 
the market in 2004. Progress has been made in making 
films thinner and in improving weldability. In addition 
to achieving increased efficiency, Flexible Packaging has 
further improved the visual properties of the products.

The costs of product and process development in 2004 
amounted to 3.1 million euros. 
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Suominen Corporation generated EUR 233.2 million in 
net sales, which was up 30 per cent over 2003. The 
increase was due to the acquisition in the Wet Wipes 
business area. Excluding the effect of the acquisition, net 
sales declined by 7 per cent. Profit before tax amounted 
to EUR 4.1 million (12.7). The decrease in the corporate 
tax rate from 29 per cent to 26 per cent reduced taxes by 
EUR 0.8 million, resulting in EUR 0.9 million in corporate 
tax. Suominen Corporation’s profit after tax amounted 
to EUR 3.2 million (8.9). Earnings per share amounted to 
EUR 0.14 (0.43). The Board of Directors proposes that no 
dividend be paid for the financial year.

Financial results
Suominen’s profit before tax in 2004 amounted to EUR 4.1 
million (12.7). The business area of Wet Wipes recorded 
an operating profit of EUR 0.3 million (1.2 for three 
months in 2003), Nonwovens an operating profit of EUR 
3.8 million (6.0) and Flexible Packaging an operating 
profit of EUR 1.6 million (4.4). Operating profit for Other 
Business Operations amounted to EUR 2.3 million (3.7). 
Suominen showed an operating loss for the final quarter 
of the year due to the low sales in Wet Wipes, and to 
the costs of measures taken to increase efficiency in the 
business area, and to the sharp rise in prices for the oil-
based raw materials of the other business areas.

Net sales recorded by Suominen Wet Wipes amounted 
to EUR 81.3 million or 15.7 per cent less than in 2003. 
Reductions in sales volumes and prices contributed to the 
decrease in net sales. In Europe, growth in sales of wet 
wipes slowed in comparison with the previous year and 
competition intensified. Brand manufacturers lost market 
shares, which in turn had a detrimental effect on the sales 
of Wet Wipes. Recovering these lost volumes for exam-
ple by directing sales to retail chains proved to be more 
time consuming than expected. The volumes of wiping 
products for all product sectors – baby-care, personal 
care, and households – declined on 2003. The profitability 
of Wet Wipes declined considerably as the production 
volume decreased and prices for converting fell off. Costs 
were adjusted and this led to EUR 0.6 million in non-
recurring expenses at the end of the year. Refurbishment 
of production lines and moves related to modernisation 
of production and to increasing efficiency during the final 
quarter reduced production volumes and eroded profits.

Net sales recorded by Nonwovens declined by 3.2 per 
cent and amounted to EUR 75.0 million. Sales volumes 
increased on last year, while sales prices were down 
substantially. Moreover, the trend in the sales volumes of 
the business area was affected by the challenges to brand 
manufacturers on the European wet wipes market. The 

sales volumes of hydroentangled wiping product materials 
rose on the previous year, largely due to an increase in 
deliveries to the United States. Sales volumes of hygiene 
product materials increased and volumes of health care 
product materials remained on the level of 2003. Financial 
performance was eroded by both the trend in sales prices 
and continued strong rises in the prices of oil-based raw 
materials. Rationalisation of production at the beginning 
of the year increased efficiency and improved the cost 
position.
      
Net sales recorded by Flexible Packaging amounted to EUR 
69.2 million and were up 0.7 per cent from the previous 
year. Sales volumes of packaging for food products grew. 
The volumes of packaging for hygiene products, special 
products, and the retail trade were on the level of the 
previous year. Sales prices declined because of intensified 
competition and fluctuations in exchange rates. Financial 
performance declined in comparison with that of 2003. 
Prices for plastic raw materials rose sharply, especially at 
the end of the year, and similar price increases could not 
be passed on to sales prices in 2004. Growth in sales 
volumes in Poland continued. Production volumes at 
the plant have risen by more than 50 per cent since the 
expansion was completed in the spring. Sales in Russia 
were smaller than during 2003.

In Other Business Operations, Inka recorded an operat-
ing loss of EUR 0.5 million, which was primarily due to 
expenses arising from reorganisation of operations. Inka’s 
production was centralised in Virrat, Finland and Estonia. 
Other Business Operations include a profit of EUR 3.2 
from the sale of real estate and investment shares.

Financing
On 31 December 2004, interest-bearing liabilities to-
talled EUR 90.5 million, or EUR 14.2 million more than 
on January 1, 2004. The company had EUR 8 million in 
capital loans. Net financial costs were EUR 4.0 million 
(EUR 2.7 million). They were 1.7 per cent (1.5 %) of net 
sales and 49.2 per cent (17.6 %) of operating profit. EUR 
5.7 million in working capital were tied up in the cash 
flow statement. Taxes paid amounted to EUR 7.7 million, 
due to accrued taxes paid for previous years. When the 
company’s capital loans are included in shareholders’ 
equity, the equity ratio was 35.6 per cent (40.5 %) and 
the ratio of interest-bearing net liabilities to shareholders’ 
equity (the gearing ratio) was 128.9 per cent (86.5 %). 
Including the capital loans in liabilities, the corresponding 
figures were 31.4 (35.5) and 159.2 (112.9). Cash flow 
from operations per share was EUR 0.22 (1.01).

Financial Statements
Report by the Board of Directors
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Net sales

€ 1 000 2004  2003  Change %

Wet Wipes 81 330  22 425  

Nonwovens 75 043  77 490  -3.2

Flexible Packaging 69 244  68 791  0.7

Others* 7 557  11 044  -31.6

Total 233 174  179 750  29.7

Operating profit 

  2004 % of net  2003 % of net

  1 000 € sales  1 000 € sales

Wet Wipes 308 0.4  1 221 5.4

Nonwovens 3 799 5.1  6 016 7.8

Flexible Packaging 1 636 2.4  4 385 6.4

Others* 2 290 30.3  3 746 33.9

Total 8 033 3.4  15 368 8.5

*Includes other business operations and consolidation items.

Net Sales and Operating Profi t 

Investments
The Company’s gross investments in production totalled 
EUR 14.9 million (EUR 8.8 million). Planned depreciation 
amounted to EUR 17.9 million (15.5). The most important 
investment project was the expansion of the Flexible 
Packaging plant in Poland, completed in May 2004.

Investments by business unit

€ milllion 2004 2003 
Wet Wipes 5.2 1.3
Nonwovens 1.8 2.1
Flexible Packaging 7.6 4.9
Others 0.3 0.5
Total 14.9 8.8
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Net sales, € million Operating profi t, € million Return on invested capital, %

Quarterly fi gures

Net sales

€ 1 000 I/2004 II/2004 III/2004 IV/2004 I–IV/2004

Wet Wipes 23 082 23 220 19 766 15 262 81 330

Nonwovens 19 891 18 057 17 621 19 474 75 043

Flexible Packaging 16 642 17 405 17 016 18 181 69 244

Others* 2 475 2 394 1 402 1 286 7 557

Total 62 090 61 076 55 805 54 203 233 174

Operating profit

Wet Wipes 508 826 145 -1 171 308

% of net sales 2.2 3.6 0.7 -7.7 0.4

Nonwovens 1 472 1 466 578 283 3 799

% of net sales 7.4 8.1 3.3 1.5 5.1

Flexible Packaging 884 602 204 -54 1 636

% of net sales 5.3 3.5 1.2 -0.3 2.4

Others* 188 162 -211 2 151 2 290

% of net sales 7.6 6.8 -15.0 167.3 30.3

Total 3 052 3 056 716 1 209 8 033

% of net sales 4.9 5.0 1.3 2.2 3.4

Net financial expenses -1 015 -782 -1 084 -1 070 -3 951

Profit before extraordinary items 2 037 2 274 -368 139 4 082

*Includes other business operations and consolidation items.
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Earnings/share, € Investments, € million Equity ratio, %

General Meetings of Shareholders
The Annual General Meeting, held on 15 March 2004, 
re-elected Kari Haavisto, Pekka Laaksonen and Heikki 
Mairinoja to the Board of Directors for the years 2004 
– 2006. The Board of Directors comprises the following 
persons: Matti Kavetvuo, Kari Haavisto, Pekka Laaksonen, 
Heikki Mairinoja and Heikki Bergholm. Matti Kavetvuo 
has served as chairman and Kari Haavisto as deputy chair-
man of the Board.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorised Public Accoun-
tants, with Heikki Lassila, APA, as the principal auditor, 
were elected auditors.

The Annual General Meeting decided that a dividend of 
EUR 0.30 per share be paid for the financial year ended 
31 December 2003.

An Extraordinary General Meeting of Suominen Cor-
poration was held on 2 September 2004. The General 
Meeting decided on payment of an extra dividend of EUR 
0.29 for the financial year ended 31 December 2003. 
Thus the dividend based on the financial results for 2003 
totalled EUR 0.59 per share.
       

Corporate Governance recommendation
As of 1 July 2004, Suominen Corporation decided to 
observe the issued recommendation for Corporate Gover-
nance of listed companies.

Share capital and shares
The registered share capital of Suominen Corporation 
totals 11 860 056 euros, the number of shares 
23 720 112, and the book counter value of a share is EUR 
0.50. The volume of trading in Suominen Corporation’s 
shares on the Helsinki Exchanges from 1 January through 
31 December 2004 was 7 320 156 shares, which is 30.9 
per cent of the number of shares in the share capital. The 
trading price varied between EUR 3.84 and EUR 6.99. The 
final trading price was EUR 4.04. The market capitalisation 
at year end was EUR 95 710 905.

Own shares of the company
On 1 January 2004 the Company held 38 293 of its own 
shares, with an acquisition value of 5.22 euros per share. 
According to the authorisation received by the Board of 
Directors in 2003, the Company conveyed 8 999 of its 
own shares between 1 January and 31 December 2004. 
The average price of the conveyed shares was EUR 6.31. 
On 31 December 2004 Suominen Corporation held a total 
of 29 294 of its own shares, accounting for 0.1 per cent 
of the share capital and votes.

Capital loans
 - in equity
 - in debt

Invested capital

€ 1 000 Dec. 31, 2004 Dec. 31, 2003
Fixed assets 132 362 138 262
Current assets 59 932 60 993
Deferred tax liability -8 866 -11 179
Trade payables -9 517 -12 080
Accruals and deferred income -10 745 -13 712
Other current, non-
interest bearing liabilities -3 411 -4 390
Own shares -153 -200
Invested capital 159 602 157 694
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The Annual General Meeting held on 15 March 2004 
authorised the Board of Directors to decide on the 
acquisition of the Company’s own shares within one 
year from the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
using assets available for distribution of profits, provided 
that the par value of the shares of the Company and it’s 
subsidiaries thus acquired, combined with the par value of 
own shares acquired previously by the Company and its 
subsidiaries, does not exceed 5 per cent of the Company’s 
total share capital at the moment of acquisition.

The Annual General Meeting also authorised the Board of 
Directors to decide on the conveyance of the Company’s 
own shares.

The Board of Directors has not exercised its authorisation 
to repurchase the Company’s own shares.

Other authorisation for the Board of 
Directors
The Board of Directors is not currently authorised to issue 
shares or to launch a convertible bond or a bond with 
warrants.

Changes in Group organisation and 
management
Two of Suominen Corporation’s business areas, Wet 
Wipes and Nonwovens, were combined as of 1 January
2005 to form a single area, Wipes and Nonwovens. 
Within the business area, the Wet Wipes business unit 
supplies the wet wipes of international brands and retail 
chains for distribution and consumption. The Non-
wovens business unit manufactures nonwovens for the 
leading producers of wiping, hygiene and health care 
products. The organisational change is to benefit the 
operating chain formed by the units and increased use of 
Suominen’s own nonwoven material.

Apart from Wipes and Nonwovens, Suominen also 
includes the Flexible Packaging business area and 
Inka Oy, which is included in Other Business Operations. 

Esa Palttala was appointed Executive Vice President with 
responsibility for the Wet Wipes and Nonwovens business 
area. Pekka Rautala was appointed Vice President, Gen-
eral Manager of the Wet Wipes business unit. He suc-
ceeds Boudewijn Lindner.

The Senior Vice President in charge of Marketing and 
Business Development for the Suominen Corporation 
resigned as of 30 September 2004.

Suominen Corporation’s Executive Team comprises the 
President and CEO, the Vice Presidents responsible for the 
two business areas, the Vice President responsible for the 
Wet Wipes business unit, and the Vice President and CFO.

Group personnel on December 31

 2004 2003
Wet Wipes 300 337
Nonwovens 188 214
Flexible Packaging 614 602
Inka 123 143
Product and Process Development 30 34
Group Management, Finance  
and Procurement 14 14
Yhteensä 1 269 1 344

Financial effects of adopting IFRS
Suominen’s financial statements for 2004 are drawn up 
in accordance with Finnish national accounting standards. 
The transition date for calculation of comparative figures 
for IFRS reporting was 1 January 2004. The financial state-
ments and interim reports for 2005 will be drawn up in 
conformance with IFRS regulations.

Suominen’s Board of Directors has approved the principles 
according to which IFRS financial statements will be made. 
Data for the transition balance sheet and comparison 
figures for 2004 have been calculated. 

The financial impact of IFRS reporting on the financial 
results and balance sheet of Suominen Corporation 
is described on page 45. The change will increase the 
corporation’s after-tax profit by EUR 1.4 million for the 
year 2004, and earnings per share by EUR 0.06, mainly 
due to elimination of goodwill depreciation. Liabilities in 
the balance sheet will increase by EUR 8.4 million due 
to growth in defined-benefit pension liabilities, financial 
leasing liabilities, and deferred taxes. Shareholders’ equity 
will decrease by EUR 1.7 million. As capital loans are 
treated as liabilities, the equity ratio will decline by 1.9 
per cent and the gearing ratio will increase by 7.7 per 
cent.

Distribution of the profit
Suominen Corporation’s earnings/share were EUR 0.14. 
The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual General 
meeting convening on 18 March 2005 that no dividend 
be paid for the financial year.

Outlook for the year 2005
On the basis of contracts concluded, use forecasts pro-
vided by customers, and the present order book, net sales 
for 2005 are expected to be on the level of those for 
2004. Price rises for oil-based raw materials are expected 
to level off. Sales prices for Nonwovens and Flexible 
Packaging are expected to increase when rises in raw 
material prices are passed on to sales prices. Adjustment 
of costs will continue. During the first months of the year 
results are expected to show loss. The operating profit for 
the entire year and the financial results are expected to be 
on the level of 2004, with a substantial part accumulating 
towards the end of the year. 
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Consolidated Statement of Income
January 1 – December 31 
€ 1 000 Notes 2004 % 2003 %

Net sales 1 233 174 100.0 179 750 100.0

Cost of goods sold  -211 552 -90.7 -158 065 -87.9

Gross profit  21 622 9.3 21 685 12.1

Sales and marketing expenses  -5 735 -2.5 -4 780 -2.7
Administration expenses  -9 315 -4.0 -6 149 -3.4
Other operating income 4 4 107 1.8 6 288 3.5
Other operating expenses 4 -884 -0.4 -1 203 -0.7
      
Operating profit before 
depreciation on goodwill  9 795 4.2 15 841 8.8

Depreciation on goodwill  -1 762 -0.8 -474 -0.3

Operating profit 2, 3 8 033 3.4 15 367 8.5

Financial income and expenses 5 -3 951 -1.7 -2 707 -1.5
    

Profit before taxes  4 082 1.8 12 660 7.0

Income taxes 7 -851 -0.4 -3 734 -2.1
Profit for the financial year  3 231 1.4 8 926 5.0
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
December 31  
€ 1 000  Notes 2004 2003

Assets

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 8
 Intangible rights  339 410
 Goodwill  32 439 37 001
 Other capitalised expenditure  725  
    33 503 37 411

Tangible assets 9
 Land  1 602 1 595
 Buildings  31 223 30 247
 Machinery and equipment  55 668 61 517
 Other tangible assets  221 76
 Advance payments and construction
 in progress  9 680 6 787
    98 394 100 222
Financial assets 10
 Own shares  103 171
 Other investments  362 458
    465 629

Total fixed assets  132 362 138 262

Current assets

Inventories
 Raw materials and consumables  9 447 9 182
 Work in progress  3 775 3 416
 Finished products/goods  9 485 10 089
 Other inventories  1 484 1 624
    24 191 24 311

Current receivables 11
 Loan receivables  270  
 Trade receivables  25 329 26 406
 Other receivables  787 714
 Deferred tax receivables 12 381 121
 Prepaid expenses and accrued income  6 587 2 739
    33 354 29 980

Cash at bank and in hand  2 387 6 702

Total current assets  59 932 60 993

Total assets  192 294 199 255
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
December 31 
€ 1 000  Notes 2004 2003

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 13, 14

Share capital  11 860 11 860
Share premium account  24 681 24 671
Revaluation reserve  3 128 3 128
Own shares  153 200
Legal reserve  2 2
Retained earnings  17 509 22 027
Profit for the financial year  3 231 8 926
Capital loans 15 8 000 10 000
Total shareholders’ equity  68 564 80 814

Provisions 16 600 665

Liabilities   

Deferred tax liability 14 8 866 11 179

Non-current 17
 Loans from financial institutions  61 788 50 039
 Pension loans  4 874 7 020
 Other liabilities  53 74
    66 715 57 133

Current
 Commercial papers  10 446 9 976
 Loans from financial institutions  11 284 7 040
 Pension loans  2 146 2 266
 Advances received  6 7
 Trade payables  9 517 12 080
 Other liabilities  3 405 4 383
 Accruals and deferred income  10 745 13 712
    47 549 49 464

Total liabilities  123 130 117 776

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  192 294 199 255
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Financial Position
€ 1 000  2004 2003

Operations
Operating profit  8 033 15 367
 Adjustments:  
 Depreciation  17 892 15 514
 Unrealised exchange rate gains or losses  29 34
 Other adjustments  -3 050 -4 438
Cash flow before change in working capital  22 904 26 478

Change in working capital 
 Increase/decrease in non-interest-bearing receivables  -477 -10 006
 Increase/decrease in inventories  119 -5 711
 Increase/decrease in current non-interest-bearing liabilities -5 301 18 478
Cash flow from operations before financial income/expenses and taxes 17 245 29 239

 Interest expenses and other financial expenses paid  -4 543 -2 874
 Interest received  254 -37
 Direct taxes paid  -7 690 -5 307
Cash flow from operations  5 266 21 022

Investments
 Investments in tangible and intangible assets  -14 375 -64 172
 Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets  4 624 7 104
 Profit from sale of other investments  1 497 
 Dividends received  38 85
Cash flow from investing activities  -8 216 -56 982

Financing 
 Proceeds from issuance of share capital   21 000
 Proceeds from capital loans   10 000
 Repayment of capital loans  -2 000
 Changes in current liabilities  470 6 000
 Changes in non-current liabilities  13 706 24 012
 Dividends paid  -13 988 -22 102
Cash flow from financing activities  -1 812 39 010

Changes in cash and cash equivalents  -4 762 3 050
Unrealised exchange rate differences  447 23
Cash and cash equivalents Jan. 1  6 702 3 629
Cash and cash equivalents Dec. 31  2 387 6 702
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Parent Company
Statement of Income
January 1 - December 31     
€ 1 000  Notes  2004  2003

Net Sales   1 955  2 373
Cost of goods sold   -31  -224
Gross Profit   1 924  2 149

Administration expenses   -2 229  -1 831
Other operating income 4  3 176  4 628
Other operating expenses 4     -600
Operating profit 2, 3  2 871  4 346

Financial income and expenses 5  -1 969  -843
Profit before extraordinary items   902  3 502

Extraordinary items 6  -880  11 860
Profit before appropriations and income taxes   22  15 362

Appropriations
Depreciation difference increase/decrease   -26  380
Income taxes 7  5  -4 742
Profit for the financial year   1  11 000

Statement of Changes in Financial Position
January 1 - December 31     
€ 1 000   2004  2003

Operations
Operating profit  2 871 4 346
 Adjustments:  
 Depreciation  99 188
 Other adjustments  -3 176 -3 922
Cash flow before change in working capital  -206 612

Change in working capital 
 Increase/decrease in non-interest-bearing receivables  -8 073 -16 280
 Increase/decrease in current non-interest-bearing liabilities -71 241
Cash flow from operations before financial income/expenses and taxes -8 350 -15 427

 Interest expenses and other financial expenses paid  -3 556 -2 307
 Interest received  1 576 1 415
 Direct taxes paid  -3 972 -9 469
Cash flow from operations  -14 302 -25 788

Investments
 Investments in tangible and intangible assets  -45 -239
 Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets  1 893 5 447
 Investments in group companies  -2 741 -51 800
 Investments in financial assets  10  
 Proceeds from sale of financial assets  1 469 
 Dividends received  108 83
Cash flow from investing activities  694 -46 509 

Financing
 Proceeds from issuance of share capital   21 100
 Proceeds from capital loans   10 000
 Repayment of capital loans  -2 000
 Group contribution           11 860 21 150
 Changes in current liabilities    9 794 15 179
 Changes in non-current liabilities  6 774 26 924
 Dividends paid      -13 988 -22 102 
Cash flow from financing activities            12 440 72 249

Changes in cash and cash equivalents                -1 168 -48
Unrealised exchange rate differences               17 4
Cash and cash equivalents Jan. 1          3 003 3 047
Cash and cash equivalents Dec. 31                 1 852  3 003
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Balance Sheet

31.12.
€ 1 000  Notes  2004 2003

Assets

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 9
 Intangible rights  75 111
Tangible assets 9
 Land    88
 Buildings    15
 Machinery and equipment  118 128
 Other tangible assets  16 16
 Advance payments and construction in progress  2  
    136 247
Financial assets 10
 Shares in Group companies  101 240 100 484
 Capital loan receivables from Group companies  467  
 Other investments  137 251
    101 844 100 735
Total fixed assets  102 055 101 094

Current assets
Non-current receivables 11
 Receivables from Group companies  28 834 35 900
Current receivables 11
 Receivables from Group companies  9 356 768
 Other receivables  88 29
 Prepaid expenses and accrued income  3 225 161
    12 669 957
Cash at bank and in hand  1 852 3 003
Total current assets  43 355 39 861
Total assets  145 410 140 955

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 13
 Share capital  11 860 11 860
 Share premium account  24 681 24 671
 Own shares  153 200
 Retained earnings  12 414 15 344 
 Profit for the financial year  1 11 000
 Capital loans  8 000 10 000
Total shareholders’ equity  57 109 73 075

Appropriations
 Depreciation difference  29 3

Provisions 16 600 600

Liabilities   
Non-current 17
 Loans from financial institutions  53 814 45 398
 Pension loans  3 361 5 002
    57 175 50 400
Current
 Commercial papers  10 446 9 976
 Loans from financial institutions  11 284 1 840
 Pension loans  1 641 1 762
 Trade payables  42 496 
 Liabilities to Group companies  6 363 1 205
 Other liabilities  114 136
 Accruals and deferred income  607 1 462
    30 497 16 876
Total liabilities  87 672 67 277
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  145 410 140 955
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Principles for preparing the fi nancial statements

Extent of the consolidated financial 
statements
The consolidated financial statements include those com-
panies in which Suominen Corporation held, either direct-
ly or indirectly, over 50 % of the voting rights during the 
financial year. The financial statements of foreign subsidi-
aries have been brought into line with the accounting 
principles of the Group. The subsidiaries not included in 
the consolidated financial statements (real-estate com-
panies with state-subsidised mortgages) have a minor 
effect on the distributable assets of the Group. Com-
panies are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from the date of acquisition to the last day of 
holding. Codi International BV was consolidated into the 
Group as of 1 October 2003. The parent company Suomi-
nen Corporation is the holding company for the Group. 
More detailed information on companies in the Group are 
found under ‘Group Companies’.

Mutual share ownership 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared with 
the acquisition cost method. The shareholders’ equity of 
a subsidiary at the time of acquisition was deducted from 
the purchase price of that subsidiary’s shares, including 
accumulated appropriations net of tax. When the value 
of a subsidiary’s fixed assets exceeds its book value, part 
of the acquisition cost is allocated to its fixed asset items. 
The amount allocated is depreciated according to the 
depreciation plan for the fixed asset commodity in ques-
tion. The depreciation period for the goodwill unallocated 
to balance sheet items is 5 to 20 years. Considering the 
strategic significance of the acquisition of Codi Interna-
tional BV, the goodwill thereby created will be depreciated 
over a 20-year period.

Intra-group transactions and margins 
All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised 
margins on intra-group deliveries, intra-group receivables 
and liabilities, and internal dividend distribution were 
eliminated.

Translation differences
The statements of income of the foreign Group Com-
panies were translated into euros at the average rate for 
the financial year and the balance sheets at the reference 
rate quoted by the European Central Bank on the day the 
books were closed. Translation differences arising from 
the elimination of the shareholders’ equities of foreign 
subsidiaries were entered as a valuation item under consoli-
dated distributable equity. Translation differences arising 
from loans to subsidiaries regarded as capital investments 
are treated in a similar manner as translation differences 
for the subsidiaries’ shareholders’ equity. 

Accumulated appropriations 
According to the tax legislation of Finland and certain 
other countries, depreciation, changes in depreciation 
difference, or changes in voluntary reserves are tax-
deductible only if entered in the books. When entered 
in the consolidated balance sheet, accumulated appro-
priations are divided between shareholders’ equity and 
the deferred tax liability and the resulting change in the 
consolidated statement of income, divided between 
the change in deferred tax liability and the profit for the 
financial year. The deferred tax liability was calculated 
with the tax rate for the following years approved when 
the books were closed and entered in the balance sheet 
as a separate item under liabilities.

Income taxes
Accrual-based taxes determined in accordance with the 
financial results of Group companies and the change in 
the deferred tax liability and tax assets due to appropri-
ations in the financial statements, temporary differences, 
and consolidation are included in the consolidated state-
ment of income. No tax liability arising from revaluations 
of real estate in conjunction when sold was entered in 
the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets and a tax liability have been entered 
for the differences between bookkeeping and taxation 
and for the approved losses deferred tax assets to the 
extent that its use is probable during the next few years.

Provisions
Provisions comprise expenditure for which a commitment 
has been made but which remains unrealised. These 
include additional pension liability and rent commitments. 
Changes in provisions are entered under the expenses in 
question in the statement of income.

Valuation of fixed assets 
Fixed assets were entered in the balance sheet at direct 
acquisition cost less planned depreciation. Planned 
straight-line depreciation was calculated from the original 
acquisition cost on the basis of probable economic life.
The depreciation periods are:

Buildings and structures 10–40 years
Machinery and equipment 4–15 years
Goodwill 5–20 years
Intangible rights  5–10 years
Other tangible assets 5 years
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Depreciation on fixed assets acquired during the financial 
year was calculated from the day on which they became 
operational. The balance sheet values for the acquired 
Codi International BV were calculated in connection of 
consolidation, applying the above Group depreciation 
periods. Depreciation on goodwill was divided between 
the business areas on the basis of estimated benefits from 
the subsidiary acquisition. Start-up costs for investments 
were entered as fixed asset items in question. Expenditure 
for maintenance and repair were entered as expenses 
for the financial year, with the exception of major reno-
vations, which were capitalised and depreciated during 
the period in which they had an effect. No depreciation 
was made on land and revaluations.

Leasing
Leasing fees were treated as rent expenses. Fixed assets 
acquired through leasing or other rental contracts were 
treated in the financial statements in accordance with 
the current regulations of each country. Financial leasing 
contracts were treated as other leasing contracts and not 
entered as fixed assets in the balance sheet. Payments 
due under leasing contracts in future years are presented 
under contingent liabilities. 

Valuation of inventories
Inventories were valuated in the balance sheet on the fifo 
principle at the variable costs of acquisition or manufac-
ture, or the probable lower replacement or sale price. 
No indirect costs were capitalised.

Net sales 
Indirect sales taxes, discounts granted and foreign ex-
change rate differences on sales were deducted from 
sales revenues. Sales freights and other costs incurred in 
sales and deliveries were treated according to their nature, 
as either costs of goods sold or sales expenses. Bad debts 
were entered under other operating expenses. Rent 
income from parent company real estate was entered 
under net sales. The costs incurred were entered as costs 
of goods sold.

Expenditure for research and 
development
Research and development expenditure was entered as 
an expense.

Matching of expenditure on pensions 
Statutory pension coverage for employees in Finnish com-
panies was provided by private pension insurance com-
panies. Pension insurance premiums were matched with 
salaries for the financial year. Foreign subsidiaries provide 
pension coverage in compliance with local practice using 
local pension insurance companies.

Items denominated in foreign 
currencies
Business transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
were entered at the rates of the date of the transaction. 
Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-
rencies were translated into euros at the reference rate 
of the European Central Bank on the day the books were 
closed. The exchange rate differences were entered in the 
statement of income. Foreign exchange rate differences 
on forward contracts were translated at the rates of the 
day the books were closed. The interest components of 
forward deals were accrued as interest expense for the 
duration of the contracts. Foreign exchange rate differ-
ences on forward contracts hedging sales income were 
entered as exchange rate differences for sales.

Commodity derivatives
The derivatives used to hedge the Group’s purchases of 
electricity were not valuated in the financial statements. 
Realised gains/losses for commodity derivatives were 
entered as an adjustment for the hedged electricity pur-
chases. 

Own shares of the Company
The company shares owned by the Group were entered 
at acquisition price under other short-term and long-term 
investments on the basis of use.  In shareholders’ equity 
the acquisition price of company shares has been trans-
ferred from retained earnings to a reserve for own shares. 
Company shares were eliminated from shareholders’ 
equity and from the number of shares for calculation of 
the key figures.
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1. Net sales
       
€ 1 000   2004 % 2003 %
Net sales by business area
Wet Wipes  81 330 34,9 22 425 12,5
Nonwovens  75 043 32,2 77 490 43,1
Flexible Packaging  69 244 29,7 68 791 38,3
Other   7 557 3,2 11 044 6,1
Total   233 174 100,0 179 750 100,0

Net sales by market area
Finland   41 774 17,9 42 485 23,6
Other Nordic countries  21 741 9,3 18 693 10,4
Other EU countries  131 435 56,4 90 283 50,2
Other Europe  14 663 6,3 18 484 10,3
Other countries  23 561 10,1 9 805 5,5
Total   233 174 100,0 179 750 100,0

2. Personnel and administrative bodies

    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Average personnel by business area
Wet Wipes  329 86
Nonwovens  196 227  
Flexible Packaging  621 621  
Inka   140 145
Product and Process Development  32 36
Group Management, Finance and Procurement  14 13 8 8
Total   1 332 1 128 8 8

€ 1 000

Personnel expenses for the financial year   
Salaries and other compensations  38 335 29 656 797 797 
Pension expenditure  4 839 4 519 108 130
Other salary-related expenses  5 768 3 420 50 79
Total   48 942 37 595 955 1 006

Salaries and bonuses paid to management
Members of the Boards of Directors and the President and CEO 528 355 356 315

The President and CEO of the company has statutory pension insurance.    
No loans were granted to members of administrative bodies of Group companies.

3. Depreciation
    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Depreciation by function
Acquisition and production  15 564 14 437 14 116
Sales and marketing  31 23  
Administration  535 580 85 72
Goodwill  1 762 474  
Total   17 892 15 514 99 188

Depreciation is itemised under intangible and tangible assets.
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4. Other operating income and expenses

    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Other operating income
Profit from sales of fixed assets  1 954 5 129 1 800 4 522
Profit from sales of shares  1 378  1 355
Contributions and indemnities  485 579 
Rents   18 35  
Recovery of bad debts  53 24  1
Other   219 521 21 105
Total   4 107 6 288 3 176 4 628

Other operating expenses
Losses on sales and writedown of fixed assets  300 7  
Damage expenses  75 48  
Bad debts  166 120
Costs from rationalisation   968 
Other   343 60  600
Total   884 1 203 0 600

5. Financial income and expenses

    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Dividend income
from Group companies
from others  9 118  113
Total   9 118 0 113

Interest income on long-term investments
from others  169 32 169 32

Other interest and financial income
Other interest income from Group companies    1 533 1 399
Other interest income from others  58 61 27 42
Other financial income from others    4  
Total   58 65 1 560 1 441

Interest expenses
to Group companies    -196 -260
to others  -4 148 -2 854 -3 530 -2 147
Total   -4 148 -2 854 -3 726 -2 407

Other financial expenses
to others  -16 -12

Exchange rate differences (net)  -23 -56 29 -22

Total financial income and expenses  -3 951 -2 707 -1 968 -843

Exchange rate differences apply to financing. 
Differences arising from sales and purchases are entered as adjustments for either sales or purchases.

6. Extraordinary income and expenses

    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Extraordinary income   
Group contribution    -880 11 860
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7. Income taxes
    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000   2004 2003 2004 2003
Income taxes for the financial year   -3 428 5 090 -3 4 742
Income taxes from previous financial years   4  8 
Changes in the deferred tax liability   2 313 -1 435
Changes in the deferred tax assets   260 79  
Total    - 851 3 734 5 4 742

8. Intangible assets

Group 
   Intangible   Other capitalised  
€ 1 000  rights Goodwill expenditure Total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2004 254 37 655 353 38 262 
Transfers between items 865   865
Fully depreciated -103   -103
Increase 118  410 528
Decrease/sale  -2 800  -2 800
Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2004 1 134 34 855 763 36 752

Accumulated depreciation Jan. 1, 2003 -750 -654  -1 404
Fully depreciated 103   103
Depreciation for the financial year -148 -1 762 -38 -1 948
Accumulated depreciation Dec. 31, 2004 -795 -2 416 -38 -3 249

Book value Dec. 31, 2004 339 32 439 725 33 503

9. Tangible assets

Group     Advance
     Machinery Other payments
     and tangible and work
1 000 € Land Buildings equipment assets in progress Total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2004 1 359 51 182 150 055 1 117 6 787 210 500
Translation difference 89 398 629  300 1 416
Fully depreciated  -165 -19 306 -26  -19 497
Increase  6 214 2 616  11 587 14 423
Decrease/sale -88 -397 -1 952   -2 437
Writedown   -317   -317
Transfers between items  3 604 5 287 -762 -8 994 -865
Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2004 1 366 54 836 137 012 329 9 680 203 223

Accumulated depreciation Jan. 1, 2004  -24 067 -88 527 -747  -113 341
Translation difference  -50 -244   -294
Fully depreciated  165 19 306 26  19 497
Accumulated depreciation on
decrease and transfers  333 1 285 609  2 227
Depreciation for the financial year  -3 190 -13 164 4  -16 350
Accumulated depreciation 
Dec. 31, 2004 0 -26 809 -81 344 -108 0 -108 261

Revaluations Jan. 1, 2004 236 3 196    3 432
Revaluations Dec. 31, 2004 236 3 196    3 432

Book value Dec. 31, 2004 1 602 31 223 55 668 221 9 680 98 394

Balance sheet value of machinery and equipment
Dec. 31, 2004   53 936
Dec. 31, 2003   59 728

Deferred tax liability of revaluations
(not in the accounts) 61 831    892
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Parent Company   Advance  
   Machinery Other payments
   Intangible   and tangible and work  
1 000 € assets Land Buildings equipment assets in progress Total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2004  88 334 212 208  842
Increase    40  2 42
Transfers between items 192    -192 
Sale   -88 -334 -3   -425
Fully depreciated -36      
Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2004 156 0 0 249 16 2 459

Accumulated depreciation Jan. 1, 2004   -320 -84 -81  -485
Fully depreciated 36
Accumulated depreciation on 
decrease and transfers -81  334 2 81  336
Depreciation for the financial year -36  -14 -49   -99
Accumulated depreciation
Dec. 31, 2004 -81 0 0 -131 0  -248

Book value Dec. 31, 2004 75 0 0 118 16 2 211

10. Financial assets

Group
    Own Other  
€ 1 000   shares investments Total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2004  171 458 629
Decrease  -68 -96 -164
Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2004  103 362 465

Parent Company
   Holdings in  Receivables from Own Other 
€ 1 000  Group companies Group companies shares investments Total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2004      100 484   171 80 100 735
Increase/Decrease       756 467 -68 -46 1 108
Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2004      101 240 467 103 34 101 844

Group companies
   Percentage of total number 
   of shares and of voting power 
Codi International BV, Veenendaal, the Netherlands 100.0
Suominen Nonwovens Ltd., Nakkila, Finland 100.0 
Suominen Flexible Packaging Ltd., Tampere, Finland 100.0 
Suominen Polska Sp. z o.o., Grodzisk Mazowiecki, Poland 100.0
Suominen Webbing Products Ltd., Turku, Finland 100.0
Inka Oy, Virrat, Finland 100.0

Owned through subsidiaries:
Suominen Flexible Packaging AB, Norrköping, Sweden 100.0 
ZAO Suominen, St. Petersburg, Russia 100.0
Suominen GmbH, Munich, Germany 100.0
Suominen Sverige AB, Norrköping, Sweden 100.0
Inka-Norsafe AS, Tallinn, Estonia 100.0

Companies not included in the consolidated financial statements 
(Included in the balance sheet under ’Other investments’)     Profit/loss
       Amount of according to
     Nominal Book company most recent 
   Percentage of  Number  value value of shareholders’ financial
   total number of shares of of shares shares equity statements
   and of voting power shares € 1 000  € 1 000 € 1 000 € 1 000
Group companies  
Kiinteistö Oy Killinkivi, Virrat, Finland 58.3 14 12 12 7 0

Participating interest company
Kiinteistö Oy Killinpolku, Virrat, Finland 25.0 1 8 8 200 0
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11. Receivables
    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000   2004 2003 2004 2003
Receivables from Group companies     
Current loan receivables    9 356 768
Non-current loan receivables    28 834 35 900
Total   0 0 38 190 36 668

Other receivables
Own shares  50  29 50 29
Other receivables  737 685 38 
Total   787 714 88 29

Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Employees’ health care compensation  148 151 1
Insurances  44 84 1
Indirect taxes  768 813  
Direct taxes  3 046 478 3 068  
Discounts  1 695 934
Foreign exchange rate differences on forward contracts  55 99 55 99
Other   831 180 100 62
Total   6 587 2 739 3 225 161

12.  Deferred tax assets
    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Temporary differences  381 121

13. Shareholders’ equity
    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Share capital Jan. 1  11 860 7 913 11 860 7 913
Share issue   3 947  3 947
Share capital Dec. 31  11 860 11 860 11 860 11 860
Share premium account Jan. 1  24 671 7 518 24 671 7 518
Profi t from sale of own shares  10  10
Share issue   17 153  17 153
Share premium account Dec. 31  24 681 24 671 24 681 24 671
Revaluation fund Jan. 1 and Dec. 31  3 128 3 128
Legal reserve Jan. 1 and Dec. 31  2 2
Reserve for own shares Jan. 1  200 231 200 231
Decrease  -47 -31 -47 -31
Reserve for own shares Dec. 31  153 200 153 200

Retained earnings Jan. 1   30 953 45 738 26 344 38 341
Reversal of revaluations   -925  -925
Dividends paid  -13 977 -22 102 -13 977 -22 102
Translation difference  486 -715 
Transfer to a reserve for own shares  47 31 47 31
Retained earnings Dec. 31  17 509 22 027 12 414 15 344
Profit for the financial year  3 231 8 926 1 11 000
Capital loans  8 000 10 000 8 000 10 000
Shareholders’ equity Dec. 31  68 564 80 814 57 109 73 075

Distributable assets     
Retained earnings  17 509 22 027 12 414 15 344
Profit for the financial year 3 231 8 926 1 11 000
Equity share of accumulated  
appropriations and optional reserves -14 201 -16 751
Distributable assets 6 539 14 202 12 415 26 344
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14. Accumulated appropriations and deferred tax liability

€ 1 000   Dec. 31, 2004 Change Jan. 1, 2004
Accumulated appropriations    
Accumulated depreciation difference  32 094 -5 407 37 501
Other reserves    -126 126
Total   32 094 -5 533 37 627

Deferred tax liability  -8 866 2 313 -11 179
Equity share of subsidiaries   
at time of acquisition  -9 027 183 -9 210
Transferred to shareholders’ equity  14 201 -3 037 17 238

Deferred tax liability    
Based on appropriations  8 866 -2 313 11 179

15. Capital loans     
     
The loans have been drawn on October 31, 2003. The capital loans shall be paid back in five equal instalments annually 
beginning June 30, 2004. The amortisation or the repayment will only be made if the restricted equity and other non-
distributable items in the balance sheets to be adopted for the corporation and the group for the previous financial year remain 
fully covered. Under this payment restriction, the loan repayment or outstanding instalment would be deferred for payment in 
future financial years on the due dates agreed in the loan agreement until the loans have been fully paid.

The interest payable is fixed 5.0 per cent p.a. Interest may be paid on the loans only when the amount payable could otherwise 
be distributed as profit in accordance with the balance sheets to be adopted for the corporation and the group for the previous 
financial year. If this condition for payment of accrued interest is not met, the interest payable will be deferred for payment in 
future financial years on the due dates agreed in the loan agreement.

The Corporation has not given any security for the capital loans.

16. Provisions      
      
     Group  Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004  2003 2004  2003
Voluntary pensions    65  
Rent commitments  600  600 600  600
Total   600  665 600  600
      
      
17. Liabilities     
         
€ 1 000 2005* 2006 2007 2008 2009
Repayment of non-current liabilities in coming years    
Group     
 Loans from fi nancial institutions 12 283 7 395 13 414 9 894 30 129
 Pension loans 2 145 1 466 904 906 400
Total  14 428 8 861 14 318 10 800 30 529
      
Parent Company     
 Loans from fi nancial institutions 11 284 7 395 7 395 8 895 30 129
 Pension loans 1 641 961 400 400 400
Total  12 925 8 356 7 795 9 295 30 529
      
*) In the balance sheet under current liabilities
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     Group  Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004  2003 2004  2003
Liabilities which fall due within fi ve years
or more     
Loans from fi nancial institutions  10 428  10 428
Pension loans 1 200 1 600 1 200 1 600
Total  1 200 12 028 1 200 12 028

Non-interest bearing liabilities
Non-current 8 919 11 253  
Current  23 673 30 182 7 126 3 299
Total  32 592 41 435 7 126 3 299

Accruals and deferred income
Deferred interest 657 567 498 340
Discounts 719 64
Salaries and social security costs 5 101 4 334 109 169
Income tax liability 3 137 5 123  953
Other matched expenses 1 131 3 624  
Total  10 745 13 712 607 1 462

18. Contingent liabilities

    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Secured loans
 Loans from financial institutions 14 744 11 394 12 756 9 667
 Other company commitments  2 057 2 907  
Total  16 801 14 301 12 756 9 667

Nominal values of mortgages
 Real estate mortgages 14 612 14 612 
 Business mortgages 5 707 5 707  
Total  20 319 20 319 0 0

Leasing liabilities
 Falling due next year 879 821  
 Falling due in subsequent years 2 774 2 937  
Total  3 653 3 758 0 0

Rent commitments
 Falling due next year 2 112 2 201 496 494
 Falling due in subsequent years 7 476 11 341 1 364 1 853
Total  9 588 13 542 1 860 2 347

Guarantees
 For Group companies
  for loans   9 993 12 363 
  for other commitments   54 384
Total  0 0 10 047 12 747

The Group has given no pledges, mortgages or guarantees on behalf of third parties.
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19. Derivative contracts
    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
Currency derivatives
 Current value 39 94 39* 94*
 Nominal value 8 831 7 896 8 831* 7 896*
Interest rate derivatives
 Current value -929 -526 -929 -509
 Nominal value 52 900 43 200 52 900 38 000
Electricity derivatives
 Current value 122 388 122 388
 Nominal value 4 391 3 864 4 391 3 864

The derivative contracts were made for hedging purposes and were valuated at market value on the day the books were closed. 
       
*) Contracts between Group companies not included.

20. Environmental costs
    Group Parent Company
€ 1 000  2004 2003 2004 2003
In the statement of income
 Cost of goods sold 1 350 804
 - including depreciation 198 174
In the balance sheet
 Tangible assets 1 001 1 236



37

Financing and Financial Risk 
Management
The financing policy approved by the Board of Directors 
of Suominen Corporation defines the authority, respon-
sibility and principles observed in the group. Financing 
and financial risk management is concentrated in the 
group’s financial administration. The purpose of financial 
risk management is to hedge against significant financial 
risks.

Refinancing and liquidity risk
Refinancing risk is managed by diversification across finan-
cial sources and financial institutions. In addition, loan 
maturities are diversified. The average loan maturity at the 
end of the year was 3.1 years. Section 17 of the Notes to 
the Financial Statements presents the annual repayments 
of long-term loans.

Different sources of financing are used to secure the 
company’s adequate funding at a competitive price. 
Cooperation with banks is based on long-term relation-
ships. The company’s commercial paper programs total 
EUR 40 million, and commercial papers worth EUR 10.4 
million were issued at the end of the year.

To meet its short-term commitments, the Group needs 
adequate financing buffers. The company’s estimated 
cash flow from operations, liquid assets, undrawn com-
mitted facilities and binding borrowing agreements must 
cover the financing needs for the next 12 months. The 
liquidity position, which includes liquid assets and 
undrawn committed facilities less short-term credits, 
amounted to EUR 32.9 million at the end of the year.

The liquidity is invested in reputable banks and commer-
cial papers with high liquidity and credit rating. The Board 
of Directors has approved a counterparty list for these 
investments. 

Foreign exchange risk
The aim of the company’s foreign exchange risk manage-
ment is to hedge earnings from business operations by 
avoiding exchange rate losses. The purpose of currency 
transactions is solely to lower the foreign exchange risks.

Foreign exchange risk comprises the transaction risk 
arising from cash flows from operations and the trans-
lation risk from translation of balance sheet items de-
nominated in foreign exchange. Most exports are euro-
denominated. The transaction position is composed 
mainly of Swedish crowns and US dollars. Foreign ex-
change items in the balance sheet are mainly in Swedish
crowns and Polish zlotys. Open, unhedged foreign 
exchange position for a 12-month period can be a 
maximum of 10 per cent of net sales.  At the end of the 
year the transaction position amounted to EUR 13.8 
million and the translation position to EUR 11.3 million.

Conventional derivative contracts are used in hedging and 
their pricing is to be verified on the market.

Interest rate risk
The company’s business operations are not sensitive to 
cyclic fluctuations. Business is capital-intensive and the 
economic lifetime of production equipment is long. Such 
factors recommend the use of fixed interest rates in the 
company’s loan portfolio. However, lower interest costs 
are achieved over the long term with short-term interest 
rates. The company’s loan portfolio is diversified so that it 
comprises both variable and fixed interest rates distributed 
over different interest periods. The company’s Board of 
Directors has determined the interest rate structure of 
the loan portfolio and the range in which it can vary. The 
average interest duration can vary between 18 and 30 
months. At the end of the year it was 25 months. 

Raw material risk
Oil-based raw materials such as polypropylene and 
polyester have a significant impact on the company’s cost 
structure. However, derivatives of these raw materials are 
neither quoted on commodity exchanges nor otherwise 
generally available. To hedge against raw material price 
risks, the company seeks to use fixed prices in purchase 
contracts and to furnish sales agreements with price 
mechanisms that allow sales prices to follow changes in 
raw material prices. 

Electricity derivatives will provide hedging for some 
80 % of the company’s estimated electricity consump-
tion in 2005, 60 % in 2006 and 40 % in 2007.

Credit Risks
Suominen Corporation does not have any significant risk 
concentrations. The credit risk policy approved by the 
Board of Directors governs the principles of lending to 
customers and the liabilities of the organisation. Credit
is granted to customers on completion of the credit 
approval process. Suominen has also subscribed a limited 
credit risk insurance for designated customers. The Board 
has approved a counter-party list of companies and finan-
ciers with strong credit ratings for derivative contracts and 
investments. The amount invested in a single counter-
party is also limited.

Hedge accounting
The Company applies its hedge accounting to interest 
swap contracts to fix the interest flow on variable-
interest loans. Hedge accounting is also applied to the 
procurement of electricity, whereby the fluctuations in 
the price of electricity are fixed for the desired period. 
Although such hedging does not comply in full with IFRS 
regulations, the differences are assumed to be insignifi-
cant. Changes in the values of hedging instruments are 
stated in the Notes to the Financial Statements and their 
impact on the statement of income is booked along with 
the hedged cash flow. 
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Share Capital and Shareholders 
Share capital
The registered share capital of Suominen Corporation 
totals 11 860 056 euros and the number of issued shares 
23 720 112. The book counter value of a share is 50 cents. 
The shares do not have a nominal value. The Suominen 
Corporation share is quoted on the main list of the 
Helsinki Exchanges under ‘Other industries’ and the 
trading code SUY1V. The ISIN code is FI0009010862 
and lot size 100 shares.

The minimum share capital of the Company is 5 000 000 
euros and the maximum share capital 20 000 000 euros, 
within which limits the share capital can be increased or 
decreased without amending the Articles of Association. 
The company has a minimum of 10 000 000 shares and a 
maximum of 40 000 000 shares, within which limits the 
number of shares can be increased or decreased without 
amending the Articles of Association.

Each Suominen Corporation share carries one (1) vote 
at the General Meeting of Shareholders. According to 
the Articles of Association, no shareholder may cast 
more than one fifth (1/5) of the total number of votes 
represented at the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
The shares afford equal rights to the distribution of the 
Company’s assets.

In order to participate in the General Meeting of Share-
holders, a shareholder must inform the Company of the 
participation at the latest on the date mentioned on the 
invitation. 

Redemption obligation
The Articles of Association contain a clause stating that a 
shareholder whose holding of all shares of the Company, 
or the votes afforded by the shares, reaches or exceeds 
33 1/3 or 50 %, has an obligation upon request by other 
shareholders to redeem their shares in accordance with 
the procedure stipulated in the Articles of Association.

Share trading 
The volume of trading in Suominen Corporation’s shares 
on the Helsinki Exchanges from January through Decem-
ber 2004 was 7 320 156 shares. This represents 30.9 per 
cent of the number of shares in the share capital. The trad-
ing price varied between 3.84 and 6.99 euros. The final 
trading price was 4.04 euros. The market capitalisation at 
year end was 95 710 905 euros.

Own shares of the Company
Within the authorisation granted to the Board of Directors 
in 2003, the Company conveyed 8 999 of its own shares 
in the period from January through December 2004. The 
average price of the conveyed shares was 6.31 euros per 
share. On 31 December 2004 Suominen Corporation held 
a total of 29 294 of its own shares, with an acquisition 
value of 5.22 euros per share, accounting for 0.1 per cent 
of the share capital and votes.

The Annual General Meeting held on 15 March 2004 
authorised the Board of Directors to decide on the acqui-
sition of the Company’s own shares within one year from 
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders using assets 
available for distribution of profits, provided that the par 

value of the shares of the Company and its subsidiaries 
thus acquired, combined with the par value of own shares 
acquired previously by the Company and its subsidiaries, 
does not exceed 5 per cent of the Company’s total share 
capital at the moment of acquisition. The authorisation 
can be used in possible business acquisitions, to finance 
investments, to carry out incentive programmes and for 
other purposes.

The Annual General Meeting also authorised the Board of 
Directors to decide on the conveyance of the Company’s 
own shares.

The Board of Directors has not exercised its authorisa-
tion to repurchase the Company’s own shares during 
the period under review.

Other authorisation for the 
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is not currently authorised to issue 
shares or to launch a convertible bond or a bond with 
warrants.

Shares held by management
Members of the company’s Board of Directors and the 
President and CEO owned either directly or via a company 
or organisation in which they held the controlling power 
1 964 424 shares on 31 December 2004. These shares 
entitle their holders to 8.3 per cent of the voting rights. 

Shares held by insiders 
on 31 December 2004
Statutory insiders 
Position       Number of shares
Kavetvuo Matti, Chairman of the Board  158 851
Haavisto Kari, Deputy Chairman of the Board  23 714
Laaksonen Pekka, Member of the  Board  48 011
Mairinoja Heikki, Member of the  Board  15 854
Bergholm Heikki, Member of the Board, 

President and CEO  1 717 994
Lassila Heikki, Principal Auditor 
 
Insiders by definition 
Henttonen Juha, Vice President, General Manager  7 500
Huldén Margareta, Vice President, Product and 

Process Development  5 043
Kiiskinen Arto, Vice President, CFO  10 069
Lehtonen Minna, Executive Assistant 
Lindner Boudewijn, Vice President, General Manager 
Mäkelä Tuija, Treasury Manager 
Palttala Esa, Vice President, General Manager  8 250
Rautala Pekka, Vice President, General Manager 
Roihu Paula, IR Assistant

Santa-Paavola Sakari , Vice President, Procurement and 

Logistics  900

Policy regarding dividend payment
The amount of Suominen Corporation’s dividend depends 
on the financial results for the accounting period. That 
part of the profit not considered necessary to ensure the 
sound development of the Company is paid to share-
holders. 
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Shareholders by category
   Total shares Percentage of
 Number of  held in each shares and of
 shareholders Percentage   category   voting power
Companies 330 8.7 3 335 695 14.1
Financial institutions and insurance companies 27 0.7 2 385 733                      10.0
Public institutions 21 0.6 3 428 684 14.5
Non-profit organisations 86 2.3 3 585 684 15.0
Individuals 3 312 87.1 10 641 182 44.9
Foreign shareholders 27 0.7 155 487 0.7
 3 803 100.0 23 532 465 99.2
Shares registered in a nominee’s name   138 081 0.6
Shares held by the company   29 294 0.1
Shares not transferred to the book-entry system   20 272 0.1
Total   23 720 112 100.0

Distribution of share ownership
    Total shares Percentage of
 Number of  held in each shares and of
Number of shares  shareholders Percentage   category   voting power
1 – 100 298 7.9 21 096 0.1
101 – 500 1 171 30.8 367 770 1.6
501 – 1 000 866 22.8 677 444 2.9
1 001 – 5 000 1 081 28.4 2 519 937 10.6
5 001 – 10 000 202 5.3 1 485 126 6.2
10 001 – 50 000 142 3.7 2 910 053 12.3
50 001 – 100 000 19 0.5 1 400 708 5.9
100 001 – 500 000 16 0.4 3 560 121 15.0
over 500 000 8 0.2 10 590 210 44.6
 3 803 100.0 23 532 465 99.2
Shares registered in a nominee’s name   138 081 0.6
Shares held by the company   29 294 0.1
Shares not transferred to the book-entry system   20 272  0.1
Total    23 720 112 100.0

Investor Relations

Suominen Corporation’s investor relations are the responsibility of President and CEO Heikki Bergholm. 
Investor communications are the responsibility of Vice President and CFO Arto Kiiskinen. 

Statements regarding corporate finances and performance are issued exclusively by the Board of Directors and 
the President and CEO. No appointments will be arranged for investors with company representatives, nor will 
they comment on financial performance during the silent period observed between the end of a financial period 
and disclosure of the results for that period. 

The financial performance of the company is monitored and assessed by at least the analysts listed below: 
FIM Securities Kim Gorschelnik  tel. +358-9-6134 6234
Mandatum Stockbrokers  Noora Alestalo  tel. +358-10 236 4794
Opstock Securities  Mikael Doepel  tel. +358-10-252 012

Suominen Corporation is not responsible for any comments or estimates made by the analysts.
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The largest shareholders

 Shareholder   % of shares
      Number of and of
     shares   voting power
 1. Evald and Hilda Nissi Foundation  2 138 490 9.0
 2. Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company  1 911 552 8.1
 3. Heikki Bergholm  1 717 994 7.3
 4. Sampo Life Insurance Company Ltd.  1 398 424 5.9
 5. Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company  1 283 850 5.4
 6. Juhani Maijala  1 041 360 4.4
 7. Chemec Oy Ab  557 550 2.4
 8. Mikko Maijala  540 990 2.3
 9. Berling Capital Ltd.  489 600 2.1 
 10. Veikko Laine Oy  335 600 1.4
 11. Aktia Capital Mutual Fund  317 550 1.3
 12. Samfundet Folkhälsan i svenska Finland  300 000 1.3
 13. Thominvest Oy  300 000 1.3
 14. Nordea Nordic Small Cap Unit Trust  298 450 1.3
 15. Argonius Oy  278 950 1.2
 16. Eeva Maijala  241 950 1.0
 17. Foundation for Economic Education  194 610 0.8
 18. Matti Kavetvuo  158 851 0.7
 19. Reino Laakkonen  156 000 0.7
 20. Harald Bertel Relander  126 500 0.5

All information concerning the Company’s shares is based on the book-entry securities register as on December 31, 2004.



41

Key Figures
Adjusted key fi gures on shares

   2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
      Pro forma Pro forma
     
Earnings/share (EPS), € 0.14 0.43 0.53 0.32 0.49
Cash flow from operations/share, € 0.22 1.01 1.06 1.28 0.74
Equity/share, € 2.55 2.98 3.14 2.97 3.02
Dividend/share, € * 0.00 0.59 1.08 0.31
Dividend/earnings, % * 0.0 156.5 204.7 75.2
Dividend/cash flow from operations, % * 0.0 66.5 101.8 18.6
Dividend yield, % * 0.0 9.0 23.3 5.2
P/E ratio 29.6 15.3 8.8 11.2

Share price
 lowest, € 3.84 4.12 3.48 3.00
 highest, € 6.99 7.01 4.81 5.54
 average, € 5.25 5.88 4.04 3.38
 at year end, € 4.04 6.56 4.62 4.62

Market capitalisation on Dec. 31, € million 95.7 155.4 94.7 95.0

Number of shares held outside
the Company
 average during the year 23 688 974 20 786 936 20 536 706 20 550 579
 at year end 23 690 818 23 681 819 20 493 185 20 550 579
Number of shares traded 7 320 156 6 576 231 8 731 941 2 433 547
 as percentage of the average during the year 30.9 31.6 42.5 11.8

*) Proposal by the Board of Directors

Changes in number of shares and share capital, 1 October 2001 – 31 December 2004

   Number of shares Share capital, €
  
2001 Share capital on Oct. 1, 2001 15 826 308  7 913 154 
2003 Rights issue 7 893 804  3 946 902 
  Share capital on Dec. 31, 2004 23 720 112  11 860 056 
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Key fi gures on fi nancial performance

   2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
      Pro forma Pro forma
     
Net sales, € million 233.2 179.8 174.8 174.1 181.3

Exports and international operations, € million 191.4 137.3 129.4 125.6 129.9
as % of net sales 82.1 76.4 74.0 72.1 71.7

Operating profit, € million 8.0 15.4 17.4 12.2 16.3
as % of net sales 3.4 8.5 10.0 7.0 9.0

Profit before extraordinary items, € million 4.1 12.7 15.1 9.3 14.1
as % of net sales 1.8 7.0 8.6 5.3 7.8

Profit before taxes, € million 4.1 12.7 15.1 9.3 16.0
as % of net sales 1.8 7.0 8.6 5.3 8.8

Profit for the financial year, € million 3.2 8.9 10.8 6.5 11.9
as % of net sales 1.4 5.0 6.2 3.7 6.5

Cash flow from operations, € million 5.3 21.0 21.8 26.2 15.1

Balance sheet total, € million 192.3 199.3 137.2 140.4 154.2

Return on equity (ROE), % 5.0 14.6 17.9 10.9 16.3

Return on invested capital (ROI), % 5.2 13.2 15.7 10.3 14.0

Equity ratio, % 31.4 35.5 47.0 43.5 40.2

Equity ratio, %, 
capital loans in equity 35.6 40.5 47.0 43.5 40.2

Gearing, % 159.2 112.9 66.5 81.5 93.6

Gearing, %, 
capital loans in equity 128.9 86.5 66.5 81.5 93.6

Gross investments, € million 14.9 66.4 8.0 10.7 11.1
as % of net sales 6.4 36.9 4.6 6.1 6.1

Expenditure on R&D, € million 3.1 2.9 2.6 2.9 3.4
as % of net sales 1.3 1.6 1.5 1.7 1.9

Average personnel 1 332 1 128 1 104 1 135 1 156
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Calculation of the Key Figures
Earnings/share Profit before extraordinary items
   – income taxes including change in deferred tax liability
   Adjusted number of shares held outside the group (average) 
   

Cash flow from operations/ Cash flow from operations as in the statement of changes in 
share  financial position
   Adjusted number of shares held outside the group (average)
   

Equity/share Shareholders’ equity – own shares – capital loans
   Adjusted number of shares held outside the group at year end
    

Dividend/share Dividend/share for the financial year
   Adjustment coefficient for share issues after the financial year

Dividend/earnings, % Dividend/share x 100
   Earnings/share

Dividend/cash flow from  Dividend/share x 100
operations, % Cash flow from operations/share

Dividend yield, % Dividend/share x 100 
   Adjusted share price at year end

P/E ratio Adjusted share price at year end
   Earnings/share

Market capitalisation Number of shares held outside the group at year end x adjusted 
   share price at year end

Return on equity Profit before extraordinary items
(ROE), % – income taxes including change in deferred tax liability x 100
   Shareholders’ equity – own shares – capital loans (quarterly average)

Return on invested capital Profit before extraordinary items + interest and other financial expenses x 100
(ROI), %  Balance sheet total – non-interest bearing liabilities – own shares (quarterly 
   average)

Equity ratio, % Shareholders’ equity – own shares – capital loans x 100
   Balance sheet total – advances received – own shares

Gearing, % Interest-bearing liabilities + capital loans – cash at bank and in hand x 100
   Shareholders’ equity – own shares – capital loans
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Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of Suominen Corporation
We have audited the accounting, the financial statements and the corporate governance of Suominen Corporation for 
the period 1 January – 31 December, 2004. The financial statements, which include the report of the Board of Directors, 
consolidated and parent company income statements, balance sheets and notes to the financial statements, have been 
prepared by the Board of Directors and the President and CEO. Based on our audit we express an opinion on these 
financial statements and on corporate governance of the parent company. 

We have conducted the audit in accordance with Finnish Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the management as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. The purpose of our audit of corporate governance is to examine that the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors and the President and CEO of the parent company have legally complied with the rules of 
the Companies’ Act. 

In our opinion the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act and other rules and 
regulations governing the preparation of financial statements. The financial statements give a true and fair view, as 
defined in the Accounting Act, of both the consolidated and parent company’s result of operations as well as of the 
financial position. The financial statements with the consolidated financial statements can be adopted and the members 
of the Board of Directors and the President and CEO of the parent company can be discharged from liability for the 
period audited by us. The proposal by the Board of Directors regarding the distributable assets is in compliance with 
the Companies’ Act. 

Tampere, on 23 February 2005 

 PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS OY 
 Authorised Public Accountants

 Heikki Lassila
 Authorised Public Accountant

Proposal by the Board of Directors to 
the General Annual Meeting
Distributable equity according to the consolidated balance sheet
on 31 December 2004    6 539 000.00 €
 
Parent Company profit 1 January  - 31 December 2004   1 308.33 €
Distributable equity according to the Parent Company balance sheet
on 1 January 2004    12 413 781.89 €
Total     12 415 090.22 €
 
The Board of Directors proposes that no dividend be paid for the financial year  0.00 €
leaving  on the retained earnings account   12 415 090.22 €
Total    12 415 090.22 €

Helsinki, on 15 February 2005

 Matti Kavetvuo Kari Haavisto Pekka Laaksonen
 Chairman

  Heikki Mairinoja  Heikki Bergholm
     President and CEO
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Financial Effects of Adopting IFRS

As of 1 January 2005 Suominen Corporation has adopted 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  
Prior to the adoption of IFRS Suominen Corporation has 
reported under Finnish Accounting Standards (FAS). The 
opening IFRS balance sheet of the transition date has 
been prepared. 

Suominen will issue a release supplementing this state-
ment  before the interim report for the first quarter of 

2005. The release will also present the IFRS comparative 
figures for the four quarters of 2004.

The significant effects of the adoption of IFRS on the 
financial position of the company are explained in the 
following summary.

Effects on Shareholders’ Equity

€ 1 000    Total
Shareholders’ equity, 31 December 2003 (FAS)   70 814

Effects of adopting IFRS 
IFRS 1 First time adoption of IFRS, revaluations   769
IAS 2 Inventories   2 732
IAS 12 Income taxes   -399
IAS 17 Leases   -1 383
IAS 19 Employee benefits   -5 565
IAS 39 Financing instruments   -13
IAS 40 Investment property   1 122
IAS 39 Available-for-sale investments   594
IAS 32 Own shares   -200
Adjusted shareholders’ equity, 1 January 2004 (IFRS)   68 471

Conveyance of own shares   56
Translation differences   485
Cash flow hedges   -433
Available-for-sale investments   -422
Dividend   -13 975
Profit for the period   4 661
Shareholders’ equity, 31 December 2004 (IFRS)   58 843
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Effects of Adopting IFRS in Financial Statements

Opening Balance Sheet 1 January 2004
   FAS Effect of IFRS
€ 1 000  1 Jan. 2004 adopting IFRS 1 Jan. 2004
Assets  
Non-current assets 138 366 4 158 142 524
Current assets 60 889 3 371 64 260
Assets, total 199 255 7 529 206 784
   
Equity and liabilities   
Shareholders’ equity, total 70 814 -2 343 68 471
Deferred tax liability 11 179 2 420 13 600
Pension liabilities 0 5 565 5 565
Capital loans 10 000 0 10 000
Other non-current liabilities 57 583 1 872 59 455
Current interest-bearing liabilities 19 282 0 19 282
Other current liabilities 30 397 15 30 412
Liabilities, total 128 441 9 872 138 314
Shareholders’ equity and liabilities, total 199 255 7 529 206 784

Balance Sheet 31 December 2004
   FAS Effect of IFRS
€ 1 000  31 Dec. 2004 adopting IFRS 31 Dec. 2004
Assets    
Non-current assets 132 743 4 157 136 900
Current assets 59 551 2 548 62 099
Assets, total 192 294 6 704 198 998
   
Equity and liabilities   
Shareholders equity, total 60 564 -1 721 58 843
Deferred tax liabilities 8 866 1 555 10 421
Pension liabilities 0 4 265 4 265
Capital loans 8 000 0 8 000
Other non-current liabilities 67 122 1 796 68 918
Current interest-bearing liabilities 23 876 0 23 876
Other current liabilities 23 866 809 24 675
Liabilities, total 131 730 8 425 140 155
Shareholders’ equity and liabilities, total 192 294 6 704 198 998

Statement of Income 1 January – 31 December 2004
   FAS Effect of IFRS
€ 1 000  2004 adopting IFRS 2004
 
Net sales 233 174 0 233 174
Operating profit 8 033 1 580 9 613
Financial income and expenses -3 951 -319 -4 270
Profit before tax 4 082 1 261 5 343
Taxes  -851 169 -682
Profit for the financial year 3 231 1 430 4 661

Key Figures
   FAS Effect of IFRS
    2004 adopting IFRS 2004
 
Earnings/share, € 0.14 0.06 0.20
Equity/share, € 2.55 -0.07 2.48
Return on equity (ROE), % 5.0 1.9 6.9
Return on investment (ROI), % 5.2 0.6 5.8
Equity ratio, % 31.4 -1.9 29.5
Gearing, % 159.2 7.7 166.9
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Financing
No cash flow statement for 2004 is presented in this 
connection, since there is no essential difference between 
cash flow statements prepared in accordance with IFRS 
and FAS.

Principles for preparing the financial 
statements

Goodwill and depreciation on goodwill
The differences between FAS and IFRS reporting on the 
accounting principles for goodwill originate from stand-
ards IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets) and IFRS 3 (Business 
Combinations). The IFRS 1 standard was applied to 
acquisition cost calculations for corporate acquisitions 
made before the year 2004, and the calculations have 
not been remade to comply with IFRS 3. Observance of 
the stipulations in IAS 36 has led to the book values of 
assets being tested for impairment. This testing has not 
resulted in any impairment losses in the opening IFRS 
balance sheet at the transition date.

According to the revised IFRS 3, no goodwill amortisation 
arising in connection with the acquisition of Codi Interna-
tional BV has been calculated since January 1, 2004. This 
has improved the consolidated profit for 2004 in compari-
son with the FAS standard by EUR 1.8 million.

Inventories
The fixed production overhead costs have been recog-
nised as part of the costs of conversion of inventories in 
accordance with IAS 2. This increased inventory by EUR 
2.7 million on the transition balance sheet. As a result of 
the revaluation of the inventories, the change in stock in 
the statement of income has fallen in comparison with the 
FAS standard, resulting in a reduction of EUR 0.2 million 
to the result for 2004.

Valuation of non-current assets
IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards, allows for the valuation of non-
current assets at fair value at the time of the transition. 
The revaluation of the plant buildings at Nakkila has 
been cancelled but, on the other hand, the property 
has been valued at fair value. Annual depreciation 
has been calculated on the fair value in accordance 
with the original depreciation plan of the non-current 
assets.

The fair value of the plant property at Nakkila in the 
transition balance sheet was EUR 15.8 million. The book 
value according to FAS was EUR 14.6 million, including 
a revaluation of EUR 3.1 million.

The revaluations of land areas, EUR 0.3 million, have been 
included in the deemed  cost at the time of revaluation in 
accordance with IFRS 1.

Investment properties
Investment properties have been presented in the balance 
sheet in accordance with IAS 40. In Finnish bookkeeping 
practice investment properties have been classified as 
tangible non-current assets and valued at historical cost. 

In IFRS reporting the investment properties have been 
valued at fair values, which have been obtained from 
outside experts. During 2004 the company disposed of 
all its investment properties.

Available-for-sale investments
According to the basic rule in IAS 39 the valuation of 
available-for-sale investments is based on fair value. 
Long-term investments in the transition balance sheet 
included quoted shares valued at EUR 0.6 million. 
According to the FAS, their bookkeeping value was 
3 thousand euros. During 2004 the company disposed 
of all its available-for-sale investments.

Derivative contracts
Suominen Corporation uses derivative contracts for cur-
rency hedging, interest rate hedging and electricity price 
hedging. Hedge accounting in accordance with to IFRS 39 
is applicable to the last two mentioned. As far as effective 
hedging is concerned, changes in the fair values of deriva-
tive contracts have been deferred in equity and they will 
be transferred from equity into the statement of income 
when the external cash flow is taking place.

The value in the transition balance sheet of the derivatives 
recorded under hedge accounting was EUR -9 thousand, 
the equivalent value at 31 December 2004 being EUR 
-597 thousand.

Sale and leaseback agreement on the Killinkoski 
property
Sale and leaseback agreements included as financial 
leases in IFRS reporting are entered in the balance sheet 
in accordance with IFRS 17. The sale and leaseback 
agreement on the Killinkoski property has been cancelled 
and the profit of EUR 1.4 million generated through the 
arrangement has been deducted from the Group’s equity. 
The profit is not entered as income during the term of the 
lease period due to the repurchasing obligation included 
in the arrangement. The financial leasing agreement has 
increased the interest-bearing liabilities in the transition 
balance sheet by EUR 1.8 million.

Pension schemes 
Most of the individual pension schemes at the companies 
which are part of Suominen Corporation are defined 
contribution plans, in which contributions are entered 
as expenditure in the period to which the contribution 
relates. The treatment of defined contribution pension 
schemes in FAS year-end accounts is consistent with IAS 
19 (Employee Benefits).

In defined benefit schemes pension costs, according to 
IAS 19, are booked to the income statement, spreading 
the regular costs over the service time of the employee by 
using the unit credit method calculated by actuaries every 
year. The pension obligation is measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows by using inte-
rest rates of government securities or similar benchmarks. 
Actuarial gains and losses are accrued to the income state-
ment over the expected average remaining service time 
of employees. The corporation has taken the opportunity 
afforded by IFRS 1 to enter all the cumulative actuarial 
gains and losses of all the pension schemes in the balance 
sheet at the time of the transition.
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The pension scheme in the Netherlands is defined-bene-
fit-based and EUR 3.7 million of it was entered as liability 
in the transition balance sheet. The liability was increased 
by EUR 0.4 million in the 2004 balance sheet, with a 
respective impact on the costs of the year.

The disability element of the Finnish Pension Scheme (TEL) 
is treated in the transition balance sheet as a defined ben-
efit. Of the disability pensions, EUR 1.8 million has been 
recorded as a long-term, interest-free liability, which, 
deducted by deferred taxes, reduces the Company’s 
equity. As a result of an alteration to the Finnish disability 
pension scheme, the liability entered in the transition ba-
lance sheet has been reduced by EUR 1.6 million through 
a reduction in pension expenditure during 2004. Most 
of the liability will be written off in the 2005 year-end 
accounts.

Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 
12 were entered for the adjustments made in sharehol-
ders’ equity. The deferred tax assets resulting from IFRS-
adjustments are EUR 2.0 million and the tax liabilities EUR 
2.4 million in the transition balance sheet. The correspond-
ing figures on 31 December 2004 were EUR 1.5 million 
and EUR 1.6 million.

€ million
Tax assets 1 Jan. 2004 31 Dec. 2004
debts arising from pension liabilities 1.6 1.1

cancelling a sales and leaseback
arrangement 0.4 0.4

Tax liabilities 1 Jan. 2004 31 Dec. 2004
valuation of non-current assets
over equivalent taxable value 1.5 0.9

change in the valuation
of inventories 0.8 0.7

Other changes

Statement of Income
Suominen Corporation has used in FAS the expense by 
function method that it will continue to use in the IFRS 
reporting. However, some cost items, as costs for product 
and process development, have been redefined. There-
fore, the gross profit is not comparable with that of the 
Finnish Accounting Standards.

Segment reporting
Suominen Corporation’s primary segment reporting 
system is based on the business segments that on 
1 January 2004 are formed of the existing business areas 
in accorrdance with IFRS 14. Inter-segment sales are 
reported as part of the net sales of the segments. 

The business areas form the cash generating units of the 
company.

With the integration of the Nonwovens and Wet Wipes 
business areas on January 1, 2005, the development 
will be towards a uniform segment in which product 
supply, pricing and the management of the operations 
will observe joint interests. The financial responsibility 
will be integrated and the administrative organisation 
changed correspondingly. The new segment reporting 
will start at the beginning of 2005. The rearrangement 
of the organisational and reporting structure will prob-
ably change the contents of the units that accumulate 
the cash flow in such a way that Nonwovens and Wet 
Wipes will together form a cash generating unit.
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Corporate Governance
General Meeting
Suominen Corporation’s highest decision-making author-
ity is exercised by the Company’s shareholders at the Gen-
eral Meetings. General Meetings of shareholders decide 
on the issues specified in the Companies Act, such as the 
acceptance of financial statements and payment of divi-
dends, the release from liability of members of the Board 
of Directors and the President and CEO, the election of 
members of the Board of Directors and Auditors and the 
compensation paid to them, and on amendments to the 
Articles of Association. The Board of Directors convenes 
the General Meetings of shareholders. 

Each share of Suominen Corporation entitles its holder 
to one vote. According to the Articles of Association, 
no shareholder may cast more than one fifth of the total 
number of votes represented at the General Meeting of 
shareholders. The Company is not aware of shareholder 
agreements concerning voting rights or restrictions on 
conveyance of its shares.

According to the Articles of Association, the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting shall be held by the end of April on the day 
set by the board of directors. According to the Articles of 
Association, the invitation to the General Meetings shall 
be published in one daily newspaper in the Company’s 
domicile, not earlier than two (2) months and not later 
than seventeen (17) days before the meeting. The Board 
of Directors’ proposals to General Meetings and the 
invitation are also disclosed in a stock exchange release.

Annual General Meetings deal with the issues specified 
in Article 14 of the Articles of Association and any other 
proposals made thereto.

Extraordinary general meetings are convened when neces-
sary.  According to the Companies Act, an extraordinary 
general meeting shall be convened when the board of 
directors considers it necessary, or when holders of 1/10 
of the shares request in writing that a General Meeting be 
held to deal with a specified matter. Shareholders have the 
right to have items included on the agenda of the general 
meeting, provided that they request the board of directors 
in writing to do so early enough for the item to be in-
cluded in the invitation to the general meeting.

The members of the board of directors, president and 
CEO and prospective directors attend General Meetings, 
unless there are well-founded reasons for their absence. 

Board of Directors
In accordance with the Articles of Association, the 
board of directors of Suominen Corporation comprises 
a minimum of three members and a maximum of seven. 
The members of the board of directors are elected by the 
annual general meeting, which is held annually before the 
end of April. The term of the members of the board ends 
on conclusion of the second annual general meeting after 
the election. A person who is 70 years of age or older can-
not be elected to the board of directors.

The board elects a chairman and a deputy chairman from 
among its members.

Suominen Corporation’s annual general meeting, held on 
15 March 2004, re-elected Kari Haavisto, Pekka Laak-
sonen and Heikki Mairinoja to the Board of Directors 
for the period 2004 - 2006. Matti Kavetvuo and Heikki 
Bergholm were elected earlier for a term ending in 2005. 
The Board elected Matti Kavetvuo as Chairman and Kari 
Haavisto as Deputy Chairman.  Heikki Bergholm is the 
President and CEO of Suominen Corporation. No other 
Board member is employed by the Company.

The Board of Directors has evaluated the independence 
of its members according to the corporate governance 
recommendation No. 18. The evaluation showed that 
Matti Kavetvuo, Kari Haavisto, Pekka Laaksonen and 
Heikki Mairinoja are independent of the Company. 

All members of the Board of Directors are independent 
of significant shareholders.

The shareholdings of the management can be found on 
page 38 and on the Company’s Internet-site at Investors 
– Shares – Insiders.

Charter of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors convenes under the direction 
of the Chairman or, if the Chairman is unable to attend, 
the Deputy Chairman.

At the Board meetings, items of business are in general 
presented by the President and CEO.

Records are kept at the meetings of the Board. The 
President and CEO has served as the recording secretary. 
All those present at the meetings sign the records.

The Board of Directors maintains an annual meeting 
plan.
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The duties of the Board include:
- deciding on acquisition and assignment of fixed 
 property
- nominating the President and CEO
- deciding on group structure
- deciding on the benefits of the management serving   
 under the President and CEO
- deciding on the incentive scheme of the Company
- monitoring and supervising the development of group  
 financial results
- deciding on authorisation for investments exceeding 
 one million euros
- deciding on taking credit and giving security
- approving strategy
- approving budgets
- establishing a dividend policy
- adopting operating policies of the Company (financing  
 policy, insurance policy, credit policy, and principles 
 for corporate governance)
- adopting final accounts, financial statement release 
 and interim reports

In view of the number of members and the meeting 
schedule of the Board of Directors, division of the Board 
operations into committees for audit, nomination and 
compensation was not found practical. 

Meeting practice
According to an advance plan, the Board of Directors 
meets at least eight times a year. In 2004 the Board 
convened 12 times. The average attendance rate of the 
members at the meetings was 100 %.

President and CEO
The President and CEO of Suominen Corporation is 
appointed by the Board of Directors. The President and 
CEO is responsible for day-to-day operations according 
to the Companies Act and in keeping with the instruc-
tions of the Board of Directors.

Business organisation
Suominen Corporation’s main business areas are Wipes 
and Nonwovens and Flexible Packaging.  Financially 
accountable vice presidents head each business area. They 
report to the President and CEO of Suominen Corpo-
ration. Financial Management supports the functions of 
the entire corporation. In addition, Suominen’s Other 
Business Operations include Inka Oy.

Suominen Corporation’s Executive Team, decided on by 
the Board of Directors, provides the President and CEO 
with support in the preparation of strategy, in dealing 

with significant operative matters or matters of principle, 
and in ensuring the flow of information. The Executive 
Team comprises Heikki Bergholm, President and CEO 
as Chairman, Executive Vice President Esa Palttala, the 
Wipes and Nonwovens business area, Vice President 
Pekka Rautala, General Manager of the Wet Wipes 
business unit, Vice President Juha Henttonen, General 
Manager of the Flexible Packaging business area, and 
Vice President, CFO Arto Kiiskinen. 

Salaries and emoluments
The Annual General Meeting determines the emoluments 
paid to the members of Suominen Corporation’s Board of 
Directors in advance, for one year at a time. The emolu-
ment for the Chairman of the Board is 30,000 euros, for 
the Deputy Chairman 22,500 euros, and for the members 
18,750 euros. Of the emoluments 40 % has been paid in 
shares of the Company.

The Board of Directors determines the salary, emolu-
ments and other benefits of the President and CEO. 
In 2004, the salaries, emoluments and benefits paid to 
the President and CEO totalled 247 436 euros.

A written service contract has been made with the Presi-
dent and CEO.  According to the contract the period 
of notice is 6 months if the Company terminates the 
employment, and 3 months if the President and CEO 
terminates the employment. If the Company terminates 
the employment, an additional compensation correspond-
ing to 6 months’ salary shall be paid to the President and 
CEO.  The retirement age of the President and CEO is 
65 years.

Separate emoluments are not paid to the members of the 
Boards of Directors of the subsidiaries. The Board of 
Directors determines the salaries, emoluments and other 
benefits of the Executive Team serving under the Presi-
dent and CEO. 

For key personnel, the Company provides an incentive 
scheme based on EVA (Economic Value Added). The 
use of Company shares to reward personnel is an essential 
element of this scheme. The criteria for the incentive 
scheme are approved annually by the Board of Directors.

Auditing
Suominen Corporation’s auditors are Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers Oy, Authorised Public Accountants, with Heikki 
Lassila, APA, as the Principal Auditor.



51

The auditors and the President and CEO agree on the 
audit plan annually, considering that Suominen Corpo-
ration has no independent internal audit organisation. 
The findings of the internal audit are reported to the 
President and CEO, and to the management concerned.

In 2004, the fees paid for statutory auditing to auditing 
companies totalled EUR 145,028. The fees paid to the 
auditing companies and companies belonging to the same 
group for non-audit services totalled EUR 25,433.

Internal control and risk management
The financial development of the Company is monitored 
monthly by an operative reporting system covering the 
entire group. Sales reports are prepared, as applicable, on a 
daily, weekly and monthly basis. In addition to actual data, 
the result and balance sheet reporting covers budgets, 
forecasts and investment reports.

The Company has insurance, financing and credit 
policies, confirmed by the Board of Directors.

Guidelines for Insiders
As of October 1, 2001, Suominen Corporation ob-
serves the guidelines for insiders issued by the Helsinki 
Exchanges. Suominen Corporation’s guidelines for in-
siders are in some respects more stringent than those of 
the Helsinki Exchanges.

The Company’s statutory insiders comprise the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, the President and CEO, 
and the Principal Auditor. Insiders by definition are the 
Company’s Executive Team and named members of the 
administrative staff. Project specific insider register is 
maintained of extensive or otherwise significant projects. 
The Vice President and CFO is the person responsible 
for insider issues.

According to the Finnish Securities Market Act, the 
share ownership of persons regarded as insiders is public. 
The insider register of Suominen Corporation can be 
inspected at the Finnish Central Securities Depository.

Permanent insiders are not allowed to trade in securities 
issued by the Company for a period beginning one week 
after the end of a financial period or of a financial year 
and ending with the publication of the interim report or 
financial statement release for the period or financial year 
in question (closed window). Insiders by definition must 

consult the person responsible for insider issues for an 
evaluation of the conformity of any planned trading to 
law and the guidelines. 

A comprehensive list of Suominen Corporation’s insi-
ders and their holdings is presented on page 38 and on 
the Company’s Internet-site under Investors – Shares 
– Insiders.

Investor relations
Suominen Corporation’s investor relations are the re-
sponsibility of the President and CEO.  Investor com-
munications are the responsibility of the Vice President 
and CFO. Statements regarding corporate finances and 
performance are issued exclusively by the Board of Direc-
tors and the President and CEO. No appointments will 
be arranged for investors with Company representatives, 
nor will they comment on financial performance during 
the silent period observed between the end of a financial 
period and disclosure of the results for that period.

Suominen’s investor information is published also on the 
Company’s Internet-site under News. Printed Annual 
Reports are published in Finnish and in English.
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Board of Directors
Matti Kavetvuo, b. 1944
Chairman of the Board since 2002
Elected until the Annual General Meeting in 2005
M.Sc. (Eng.), B.Sc. (Econ.)
Chairman of the Board of Metso Corporation
Chairman of the Board of Orion Corporation 
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Kesko Corporation
Member of the Board of Alma Media Corporation,
KCI Konecranes Plc, Marimekko Corporation and
Perlos Corporation
Holds 158 851 Suominen Corporation shares.

Kari Haavisto, b. 1941
Deputy Chairman of the Board since 2002
Elected until the Annual General Meeting in 2006
Licenciate of Science in Economics and Business 
Administration 
Member of the Board of Aspo Plc, Evli  Bank Plc and 
Exel Oyj
Holds 23 714 Suominen Corporation shares.

Heikki Bergholm, b. 1956
President and CEO of Suominen Corporation
Member of the Board
Elected until the Annual General Meeting in 2005
M.Sc. (Eng.)
Chairman of the Board of Componenta Corporation
Member of the Board of Kemira Oyj and Pohjola 
Group Plc 
Holds 1 717 944 Suominen Corporation shares.

Pekka Laaksonen, b. 1956 
Member of the Board
Elected until the Annual General Meeting in 2006
M.Sc. (Econ.)
Senior Executive Vice President, Stora Enso Oyj
Holds 48 011 Suominen Corporation shares.

Heikki Mairinoja, b. 1947
Member of the Board
Elected until the Annual General Meeting in 2006
M.Sc. (Eng.), B.Sc. (Econ.)
CEO of G.W. Sohlberg Corporation
Member of the Board of Kyro Corporation, Perlos 
Corporation and Ensto Oy
Holds 15 854 Suominen Corporation shares.

President and CEO
Heikki Bergholm

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorized Public Accountants
Principal Auditor Heikki Lassila, APA
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Executive Team

Pekka Rautala
b. 1957
M.Sc. (Econ.)
Vice President
Wet Wipes Business Unit
Joined a Suominen 
company in 2004
Holds no Suominen 
Corporation shares.

Heikki Bergholm
b. 1956
M.Sc. (Eng.)
President and CEO since 2002
Member of the Board since 2001, 
Chairman 2001–2002
Joined a Suominen 
company in 1985
Holds 1 717 944 Suominen 
Corporation shares.

Juha Henttonen
b. 1948
M.Sc. (Eng.)
Vice President
Flexible Packaging
Joined a Suominen 
company in 1976
Holds 7 500 Suominen 
Corporation shares.

Esa Palttala
b. 1943
B.Sc. (Eng.)
Executive Vice President
Wipes and Nonwovens
Joined a Suominen 
company in 1972
Holds 8 250 Suominen 
Corporation shares.

Arto Kiiskinen
M.Sc. (Econ.)
Vice President and CFO 
Joined Suominen 
Corporation in 2001
Holds 10 069 Suominen 
Corporation shares.



Mainoskenttä Oy / Hämeen Kirjapaino Oy

Suominen Corporation
Vestonkatu 24
P.O. Box 380
FI-33101 Tampere
Tel.   +358-(0)10 214 300
Fax   +358-(0)10 214 3530
E-mail: fi rstname.lastname@suominen.fi 
www.suominen.fi 

Suominen Nonwovens Ltd.
Suomisentie 11
P.O. Box 25 
FI-29251 Nakkila 
Tel.  +358-(0)10 214 500 
Fax  +358-(0)10 214 5510 
E-mail: fi rstname.lastname@suominen.fi 
www.suominen.fi 

Suominen Flexible Packaging Ltd.
Vestonkatu 24
P.O. Box 33 
FI-33731 Tampere 
Tel.   +358-(0)10 214 200
Fax   +358-(0)10 214 2241
E-mail: fi rstname.lastname@suominen.fi 
www.suominen.fi 

Inka Oy
Inkantie 62 
FI-34980 Killinkoski
Tel.  +358-(0)10 214 4100
Fax  +358-(0)10 214 4300
E-mail: fi rstname.lastname@inka.fi 
www.inka.fi 

Suominen Wet Wipes
Codi International BV
Turbinestraat 13-19
P.O. Box 417
NL 3900 AK Veenendaal
The Netherlands
Tel.  +31-(0)-318 564 811
Fax + 31-(0)-318 525 224
E-mail: info@codi.nl
www.codi.nl

Contact Information
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